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REQUESTED ACTION

Authorize the "New Hampshire Department of Transportation (NHDOT) to pay an amount not to exceed
$263,200 to Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc. (Vendor 177203), Concord,
NH, project # 68057C, to procure fleet and passenger management software to support their public transit
system, effective upon Governor and Council approval through June 30, 2026. 100% Federal Funds.

Funding for this agreement is available in the Fiscal year 2024 as follows:

04-96-96-964010-2916 FY 2024

Public Transportation
072-500575 Grants to Non-Profits-Federal $263,200

EXPLANATION

NHDOT has approved a request for Federal Transit Administration (FTA) Section 5339 Bus & Bus
Facilities Program funding from Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc.
(CAPMCI). The funding is for an expansion project to institute a fleet and passenger management system
that will likely include an ITS equipment base with CAD/AVL + AVA, and Real Time System
expansion. This will allow CAPBMCI to improve the efficiency of its transportation services.

CAPBMCI is a private, non-profit organization that provides rural public transportation, including
transportation for seniors and individuals with disabilities, in Concord as Concord Area Transit (CAT)
and the broader Belknap-Merrimack Counties region as Mid-State Transit (MST).

NHDOT released a public notice on September 27, 2022, announcing the availability of funding from the
FTA Section 5339 Bus and Bus Facilities program. NHDOT solicited proposals from public transit
agencies and private non-profit organizations engaged in public transportation services. Five (5) transit
agencies applied by the November 21, 2022, deadline, and all were awarded funds for eligible projects.
The five (5) transit agencies are Advance Transit, Inc. (AT), Community Action Program of Belknap-
Merrimack Counties (CAPBMCI), Southwestern Community Services (SCS), Tri-County Community
Action Program (TCCAP), and Cooperative Alliance for Seacoast Transportation (COAST). The subject
project was delayed pending NHDOT's consultant-based research options for statewide implementation,
which included confirmation of cost estimates for projects including this project.
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A project evaluation committee consisting of three Department staff from NHDOT's Bureau of Rail and
Transit reviewed and scored the 5339 applications submitted for projects. The evaluation committee
members included the Public Transportation Administrator, Fred Butler, Transportation Specialist,
Michael Pouliot, and Transit Grants Coordinator, Paula Devens. Each reviewer evaluated and scored

I
applications based on the criteria indicated in the application materials. Every application met NHDOT's
criteria for inclusion in its public transit funding plan and have been awarded separate amounts for the
aforementioned transit systems. The evaluation matrix and scores are provided below for reference:

1

The applicant has the fiscal and technical capacity and adequate budget to
operate service and conduct ongoing maintenance associated with this
capital request. !

20%

2

The applicant complies with relevant Federal and state regulations and has
a history of compliance with regulations and reporting requirements. New
applicants must demonstrate sufficient resources for compliance.

20%

3

The applicant successfully demonstrates service efficiency and
effectiveness, measured in ridebhip, service miles and hours, costs, and
fare recovery. New applicants must demonstrate the ability to measure
performance and achieve goals'.

20%

4 ■

The applicant conveys how this addresses a critical public transportation
need. Applicants need to adequately illustrate how the project will benefit
the agency's transportation program/services, including how it is necessary
for continued and/or improved operations. (As replacement
vehicles/equipment are prioritized, detailed information is especially
important for expansion projects. Vehicle replacements are presumed to
address needs.) i

25%

5

The applicant demonstrates involvement in and support for the project,
financial and otherwise, on the part of citizens and local government, e.g.,
letters of support, willing to prcivide local match above minimum required,
etc. (Vehicle replacements are presumed to have such support.)

15%

I  Total Scoring 100%

Transit System Score Status
Contracting

Action

Cooperative Alliance for Seacoast Transportation (COAST

(1) ADA - small cutaway 16 pax bus-
replacement 1

91.8% Awarded
Transfer of Funds

Tri-County Community Action Program ̂

(2) ADA - small cutaway 12 pax buses - |
replacements !

91.3% Awarded
Statewide

Procurement

Advance Transit (AT) j

(30) bicycle racks - replacement \ 86.2% Awarded
G&C Item

(completed)

Community Action Program of Belknap-Merrimack County

(1) ADA - small cutaway bus 16 pax - >
replacement !

84.2% Awarded
Statewide

Procurement

Community Action Program of Belknap-Merrimack County

(1) ADA-small cutaway bus 12 pax - |
replacement 1

84.2% Awarded
Statewide

Procurement
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Southwestern Community Services (SCS)

(3) ADA - small cutaway bus 12 pax |
buses - replacements

83.5% Awarded
Statewide

Procurement

Community Action Program of BelknaprMerrimack Counties (CAPBIMCI)

ITS Equipment Base w/CAD/AVL/AVA 1
and Real Time

79.3% Awarded
G&C Contract

(pending)

Tri-County Community Action Program! (TCCAP)

New telephone system - replacement 75.5% Awarded
G&C Contract

(pending)

Tri-County Community Action Program' (TCCAP)
New internet system equipment - '
replacement !

74.7% Awarded
G&C Contract

(pending)

Southwestern Community Services (SCS)

Facility renovation | 73.3% Awarded
G&C Contract

(completed)

Southwestern Community Services (SCS)

Technical equipment - expansion \ 70.3% Awarded
G&C Contract

(pending)

The total project cost is $329,000, which includes $263,200 (80%) FTA Section 5339 funds and $65,800
(20%) local agency match. This contract reflects only the Federal portion of the project for a maximum
contract amount of $263,200. 1

CAPBMCI will procure the equipment following Federal procurement guidelines, pay the vendor(s) for
the equipment, and submit an invoice for Federal reimbursement to the Department.

In the event that Federal Funds are unavailable, additional General Funds will not be requested to support
this program.

This agreement has been approved by the Attorney General as to form and execution. NHDOT has
verified that the necessaiy funds are available. Copies of the fully executed agreement are on file at the
Secretary of State's Office and the Department of Administrative Services Office, and subsequent to
Governor and Council approval will be on file at NHDOT.

Your approval of this resolution is respectfully requested.

Sincerely,

William J. Cass, P.E.

Commissioner

Attachments
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FORM NUMBER G-I {version 11/2021)

Subject: SFY 2023 FTA SECTION 5339 Bus & Bus Facilities Program Funding

GRANT AGREEIVIENT

The State of New Hampshire and the Grantee hereby
Mutually agree as follows;

GENERAL PROVlSrONS

1. Identitication and Definitions.

1.1. Stale Agency Name

NH Department of Transportation

1.2. State .Agency Address
7 Hazen Dr.

PO Box 483

Concord. NH 03302-0483

1.3. Grantee Name

Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack
Counties, Inc.

1 .4. Grantee Address 2 Industrial Park Drive
PO Box 1016

Concord, NH 03302-1016

1.5 Grantee Phone

603-225-3295

1.6. Account Number

04-96-96-964010-2916-0

72-500575

1.7. Completion Date

June 30, 2026

1.8. Grant Limitation

5263,200

1.9. Grant Officer for State .Agency

Fred Butler, Public Transportation Administrator,
Bureau of Rail & Transit

1 ,10, State Agency Telephone Number

603-271-2565

If Grantee is a municipality or village district: "By signing this form we certify that we have complied with
any public meeting requirement for acceptance of this grant, including if applicable RSA 31:95-b."

!. Grantee Sigriature 1 1 ^

n ?A0 A ;

1.12. Name & Title of Grantee Signer 1

Jeanne Agri, Chief Executive Officer

^aiitec Signature 2
W/A

Name & Title of Grantee Signer 2 |
N/A

Grantee Signature 3

N/A

Name & Title of Grantee Signer 3

N/A

.1.13 Stale Agency Signature(s) 1.14. Name &. Title of State Agency Signor(s)

Michelle Winters, Director of Aeronautics, Rail & Transit

15. Approval by Attomey General (Form, Substance and Execution) (if G & C approval required)

By: Assistant Attorney General, On:

1.16. Approval by Governor and Council (if applicable)

By: On:

2. SCOPE OF WORK: Id exchange for grant funds provided by the State of New Hampshire, acting
through the Agency identified in block 1.1 (hereinafter referred to as "the State"), the Grantee identified in
block 1.3 (hereinafter referred to as "the Grantee"), shall perform that work identified and more particularly
described in the scope of work attached hereto as EXHIBIT B (the scope of work being hereinafter referred to
as "the Project").
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4.

4 1

4.2.

5.

5.1.

5.2.

5.3.

5.4.

5.5.

7.

7.1.

7.2.

a.3.

AUKA CON'h'Ulul), E.xccpt as othcnvisc specifically provided for herein, the
Grantee shall perform the Project in, and with respect to, the State of New
Hampshire. 9.2.
EFFECTIVE DATE: COMPLETlOiN OP PROJECT.

This .\t;recinent, and all f>bligaiions of the panics hcreundcr. shall become
effective on the date on the date of approval of this Agreement by the Governor
and Council of the State of New Hampshire if required (block 1.16), or upon 9.3.
signatutc by the Slate Agency as shown in block 1.14 C'thc Effective Date").
Except as oiherxvise specifically provided herein, the Project, including all reports 9.4.
required by thi.s Agreement, shall be completed in ITS entirety prior to the date in
block 1.7 (hcreinaflcr referred to as "the Complciion'Dalc").
CRA.NT AMOUNT: LtMITATION ON AiMQUNT: VOUCHERS:

PAVMF.NT.

The Grant .Amount is identified and more padieularly described in EXHIBIT C. 9.5.
attached hereto.

The manner of. and schedule of payment shall be as set forth in EXHIBIT C 10.
In accordance with the provisions set forth in EXHIBIT C, and in consideration
of the satisfactory perfonnancc of the Projcei, as determined by the State, and as
limited by subparugraph 5.5 of these general provisions, the State shall pay the
Gratitcc the Grant Amount, The State shall withhold trom the amount otherwise
payable to the Grantee under this siibpartigraph 5.3 those siinis required, or
permiltccl, to be withheld pursuant to N.H, RSA 80:7 through 7-c.
'1"hc payment by the Stale of the Grant amount shall be the only, and the complete
payment to the Grantee for all e.xpenscs. of whatever nature, incurred by the
Grantee in the pcrlomiance hereof, and shall be the only, and the complete, II.
eoinpensaiion to the Grantee for the Project. The State .shall have no liahilitie.s to i I.I.
the Grantee other than the Grant Amount.

Notwithstanding anynhing in this Agreement to the contrary, and notwithstanding 1 1.1.1
unexpected circumstances, in no event shall the total uf all payments authorized, 11.1.2
or actually made, hcreunder sxceed the Grant limitation set forth in block 1.3 of 11.1.3
these general provision.s. M. 1,4
COMPMAiNCE BY GRANTEE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS. In tl.2.

connection with the performance of the Ptoject, the Grantee shall comply with all
statutes, laws regulations, and orders of federal, state, county, or municipal 11.2,1
authorities which shall impose any obligations or duty upon the Grantee, including
the aequisiii<>n of any and all necessary permits and RSA 11 -95-h.
RECORDS and ACCOUNTS.

Between the EiTcciivc Date and the date seven (7) years after the Cnmplction
Dale, unless mherxvise required by the gram terms or the Agency, the Grantee 1 1.2.2
.shall keep detailed accounts of all expenses incurred in connection with the
Project, including, but not limited to. costs of administration. Iransponalion,
insiiranee, telephone calls, and clerical materials and services. Such accounts
shall be supported by reeeipt.s. invoices, bills and other similar documents.
Between the Effective Date and the date seven (7) years after the Completion 11.2.3
Date, unless otherwise required by the grant terms or the Agency pursuant to
subparagraph 7.1. at any time during the Grantee's nonnai business hours, and as 11.2.4
often as (he State shall demand, the Grantee .shall make available to the State all
records pcnaining to matters covered by this Agreement. The Grantee shall 12.
permit the Stale to audit, examine, and reproduce such records, and to make audits 12.1.
of all contracts, invoices, materials, payrolls, rccord.s of personnel, data (as that
icnn is hereinafter defined), and other infonnaiion relating to all matters covered
by (his Agreement. As used in this paragraph. "Granitx:" includes all persons,
natural or fictional, affiliated with, controlled by, or under common ownership
with, the entity identified as the Gianicc in block 1.3 ofihcsc provisions
PERSONNEL. 12.2.

The Grantee .shall, at ius own expense, provide all personnel necessary to pcrfonn
the Project. The Grantee warrani.s that oil personnel engaged in the Project shall
be qualified to pcrfomi such Project, and shall be properly licensed and authorized
to perform such Project under all applicable laws. 12.3.
Titc Grantee shall not hire, and it shall not permit any subconiracior. subgranicc.
or other person, firm or corporation with whom it is engaged in a combined effort
to perform the Project, to hire any person who has a contractual relationship with
the Sutc. or who is a State officer or anploycc, elected or appointed.
The Grant Officer shall be the representative of the State hcreundcr. In the event 12.4,
of any dispute hercunder, the interpretation of this Agreement by the Grant
Officer, and his/licr decision on any dispute, shall be final. 13.
DA FA: RETENTION OF DATA: ACCESS.

As used in this Agrcemcni, the word "data" shall mean all infonnation and things
developed or obtained during the performance of. or acquired or developed by
reason of. this Agreement, including, but not limited lu, all studies, reports, files,
formulae, surveys, maps. chart.s, sound recording.s, video recordings, pictorial
rcpioduction.s. drawings, analyses, graphic representations.

computer programs, computer pdntoui.s, notes, letters, mcmorandii, paper, and
documents, all whether finished or unfinished.
Between the EfTeeiivc Dale and (he Completion Date the Grantee shall gram to
the Stale, or any person designated by it. unrestricted access to all da'
examination, duplication, publicatinn, inanslation. sale, disposal, or for any
purpose whatsoever.
No data shall be subject to copyright in the United Sutcs or any other country by
anyone other than the State.
On and after the Effective Date all data, and anypropcrty which has been received
from the Slate or purchased with funds provided for that purpose under this
Agreement, shall be the property of the State, and shall be returned to the State
upon demand or upon tcmiination of this Agreement for any reason, whichever
shall first occur.

The State, and anyone it shall designate, shall have unrestricted authority to
publi.sh, disclose, distribute and otherwise 'use, in whole or in part, all data.
rONnmONAf. nature or AGRKEMENT. NorwirKstandlng anything in
this Agreement to the contrary, all obligations of the State hcreundcr. including,
without limitation, the continuance of paytncnLS hcreundcr. arc contingent upon
the availability or continued appropriation of fund.s, and in no event shall the State
be liable for any payments hcreunder in excess of such available or appropriated
f\mJs. In the event of a reduction or termination of those funds, the State shall
have the right to withhold paymcni until .such ftind.s become available, ifever, and
shall have the right to terminate this Agreement iininedialcly upon giving the
Grantee notice uf such termination.

EVENT OF DEFAULT: REM EDfES.

Any one or more of the following acts or omissions of the Grantee shall constitute
an event of default hcreundcr (hcrcinaflcr referred to as "Events of Default");
Failure to perform the Project satisfactorily or on schedule; or
Failure to submit any report required hcreunder; or
Failure to maintain, or permit access to, the records required hcreundcr; or
Failure to pcrfonn any of the other covenants and conditions of thi.s Agreement.
Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default, the State may lake any one, or more,
or all, of the following actions:
Give the Grantee a written notice specifying the Event ufDefauil and requiring it
to be remedied within, in the absence of a greater or lesser specification of lime,
thirty (30) days from the date of the notice; and if the Event of Default is not
timely remedied, terminate this Agreement, effective two (2) days after giving the
Grantee nuiicc of termination; and
Give the Grantee a written notice specifying thcEvem of Default and suspc

all payments to be made under this Agreement and ordering that the portion
Grant Amount which would othcrwi.sc accrue to the Grantee during the period
from the date of .such notice until such lime as the State dciemtines that the

Grantee has cured the Event of Default shall never be paid to the Grantee; and
Set off again.st any other obligation the Stale may owe to the Grantee any damages
the State suffers by reason of any Event of E>cfautt; and
Treat the agreement as breached and pursue any of its remedies at law or in equity,
Of both,

TERMINATION.

In the event of any early tenninalion of this Agreement for any reason other than
the completion of the Project, the Grantee shall deliver to the Grant Officer, not
later than fifteen (15) days afler the date of lemiinalion, a report (hereinafter
referred to as the "Termination Report") describing in detail all Project Work
pcrfoniied, and the Grant Amount earned, to and including the date of termination.
In the event of Termination under paragraphs 10 or 12.4 of these genera!
provisions, the approval of such a Termination Report by the State shall entitle
the Grantee to receive that portion of the Cram amount earned to and including
the date of tcmiination.

In the event of Termination under paragraphs 10 or 12.4 of these general
provisions, (he approval of such a Terminaiiun Report by (he State shall in no
event relieve the Grantee from any and alt liability for damages sustained or
incurred by the State as a result of the Grantee's breach of its obligations
hcreundcr.

Notwithstanding anything in (his Agreement to the contrary, either the State or,
except where notice default has been given to the Grantee hcreunder, the Grantee,
may tenninate this Agreement without cause upon thirty (30) days written notice.
CONFLICT OF INTF.RF.ST. No officer, member of employee of the Grantee,
and no representative, officer or employee of tiic State of New Hampshire or of
the governing body of the locality or localities in which the Project is to be
performed, who exercises any functions or responsibilities in (he review or
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IS.

16.

approval of the undertaking or carrying out of such Project, shall participate in 17.2.
any decision relating to this Agreement which alTccis his or her personal interest
or the iniercbt of any corporation, panncrship. or u.ssocialion in which he or she
is directly or indirectly interested, nor shall he or she have any personal or
pecnniaiy interest, direct or indirect, in thi.s Agreement or the proceeds thereof.

14. C;KA^TI^^:^■:•S KKLATION to rm-: .STATK. in the pcrfonnancc of this
Agreement the Grantee, its employees, and any subcontractor or subgranicc of I
the Grantee arc in all respects indqtendeni contractors, and are neither agents
nor employees of the Stale. Neither the Grantee nor any of its officcfs,
employees, agents, members, subconiraetors or subgrpntec.s, .shall have authority
to'bind the Slate nor arc they entitled to any of the benefits, workmen's
compensation or emoluments provided by the Stoic to its employees.
aSSIGNiMKiS'T and SUnCONTRyNCTS. The Grantee shall not assign, or 19.
otherwise transfer any interest in this Agrccmcnc without the prior written
consent of the State. None of the Project Work shall be subcontracted or
subgrantcd by (he Grantee other than as set forth in E.>chibii B without the prior
witten consent of the State. 20.
INnKMN'IKICATlON. The Grantee shall defend, indemnify and hold
hacnicis the State, its officers and employees, from and against any and all
losses suffered by the Slate, its officers and employees, and any and all clainvs,
liabilities or penalties nsseded against the Slate, its officers and employees, by 21.
or on behalf of any person, on account of, based on. resulting from, arising rmt
offer whicli may be claimed to arise out of) the acts or omissions of the Grantee
or subconiracior, or .subgrantcc or other agent of the Grantee. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, nothing herein contained shall be deemed to constitute a waiver
of the .sovereign iimnunity of the State, which immunity is hereby reserved to
the State. This covenant shall survive the termination of this agreement. 22.

17. INSUR/VNCK.
17.1 Tlic Grantee shall, at its own e.xpcnsc. obtain and maintain in force, or shall 23.

require any subcontractor, subgrantec or assignee pcrfonning Project work to
obtain and maintain in force, both for the benefit of the State, the following
insurance:

17. 1 .1 Statutory workers' compensation and employees liability insurance for all 24.
employees engaged in the performance of the I'rojccc. and

17. 1 .2 General liability insurance against all claims of bodily injuries, death or property
damage, in iimounts not less than 51,000.000 per occurrence and 52,000.000
aggregate for bodily injury or death any one incident, and $500,000 for propcny
damage in any one incident; and

The policies described in subpuragraph 17.1 of this paragraph shall be the .standard
form employed in the State of New Hampshire, issued by underwriters acceptable
to the State, and aiiihorizeci to Jo business in tho Stale ofNcw Hampshire. Grantee
shall fiimish to the State, certificates of insurance for all renewal(s) of insurance
required under this Agreement no later than ten (10) days prior to the expiration
dale of each insurance policy.
WAiVKR OK MKK.ACH. No failure by the State to enforce any provisions
hereof after any Event of Default shall be dcqried a waiver of its rights with legard
to that Event, or any subsequent Event. No express waiver of any Event of Default
shall be deemed a waiver of nny provisions hereof. No such failure of waiver
'shall be deemed a waiver of the right of the State to enforce each and all of the
provisions hereof upon any furiher or other default on the part of the Grantee.
NOTICE. Any nolicc by a party hereto to the other party shall be deemed to have
been duly delivered or given at the titnc of mailing by ccjtified mail, postage
prepaid, in a United States Post Office addressed to the panics at the addrc.ssc.t
fi rst above given.
AiMl'-NDMENT. This Agreement may be amended, waived or discharged only
by an insinimcni in writing signed by the parties hereto and only afler approval of
such amendment, waiver or discharge by the Governor and Council of the State
of New Hampshire, if required or by the signing State Agency.
CONSTRUCITON Ul' ACWEEMENT AND TERMS. Thi.s Agreement shaii
be construed in accordance with the law of the State of New Hampshire, and is
binding upon and inures to the benefit of the parties and their respective successors
and assignees. The captions and conienLs of the "subject" blank arc used only as
a matter of convenience, and arc not to he considered a pan of this Agreement or
to be used in determining the intend of the parties hereto.
TMIKD Parties. 'Hic panics hereto do not intend to benefit any third panics
and this Agreement shall not be construed to confer any such benefit.
ENTIKF. AGRF.F.iM KNT. Hiis Agreement, which may be c.xccutcd in a number
of counierpans. each of which shall be deemed an original, coii.siitutcs the entire
agreement and understanding between the parties, and supersedes all prior
agreements and understandings relating hereto.
■SPECIAL PROV'iSION.S. The additional or modifying provisions set forth in
Exhibit A hereto arc incorporated as part of this agreement.
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Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack County, Inc.
EXHIBITS TO CONTRACT

EXHIBIT A Special Provisions

EXHIBIT B Scope of Services

EXHIBIT C Budget

Certificate of Good Standing

Certificate of Corporate Vote

Certificate of Insurance

FTA Certifications and Assurances

FT A Master Agreement

2 CFR Part 200

Social Service Documents to Include:

501 (c)
Financial Report
Board of Directors

Key Personnel and Salaries
Resumes



Revised 01/23/2024

Community Action Program Belknap Merrimack-County, Inc.
EXHIBIT A

SPECIAL PROVISIONS

A.l. Amend G-1 Section 2. "SCOPE OF WORK" by adding the following:

2.1 The Grantee may change services only with the prior written agreement of the State and in
accordance with applicable Federal Transit Administration (FTA) requirements.

A.2. Amend G-1 Section 5. "GRANT AMOUNT: LIMITATION ON AMOUNT:

VOUCHERS: PAYMENT" by adding the following:

5.6 The Grantee shall submit a request for payment to the State on a form specified by the State
on a monthly or quarterly basis, together with all information to support the request. Such
requests for payment shall be properly completed and signed. Requests for payments must
be for allowable costs only as defined in 2 CFR Part 200. No requests for advance payment
will be accepted by the State.

5.7 Upon receipt of the request for payment, the State shall review the request to determine the
allowability of costs. In connection with this review, the State may demand production of
(and liie Oianlee shall produce) and inspect any documents and records described in
Section 7.

5.8 Within 30 days of receipt of the request for payment and other documents and records
required by the State, the State shall determine the allowability of costs and the amount
due and owing to the Grantee and shall pay said amount, subject to other provisions of this
Agreement.

5.9 Final Payment. Satisfactory acceptance by the State and FTA of all reports required by this
Agreement is a condition precedent to final payment (i.e., payment for the last month or
portion thereof of this Agreement). All reports will be prepared to the satisfaction of the
State and Federal Transit Administration (FTA). The final payment may be retained and
withheld pending receipt and satisfactory acceptance of all reports required by this
Agreement and resolution of all pending matters.

A.3. Amend G-1 Section 6. "COMPLIANCE BY GRANTEE WITH LAWS AND

REGULATIONS" by adding the following:

6.1 The provisions of 2 CFR 200 shall apply to the local administration of this agreement and
any subgrantee under this agreement.

6.2 In the event of any conflict between the requirements within this Exhibit related to Federal
requirements and Federal Clauses incorporated elsewhere into this Agreement, the Federal
Clauses take precedence.

A.4. Amend G-1 Section 12. "TERMINATION" by adding the following:

12.5 Completion of Services; Payment of Price. Excepting those obligations of the Grantee



Revised 01/23/2024

which, by the terms of this Agreement, do not expire on the Completion Date, upon the
completion of the Services and upon payment of the Grant Price, this Agreement, and all
obligations of the parties hereunder, shall cease and shall be without recourse to the parties
hereto.

A.5. Amend 0-1 Section 9. "DATA; RETENTION'OF DATA; ACCESS" by adding the
following:

9.6 The following restrictions apply to all subject data first produced in the performance of this
agreement:

9.6.1 Except for its own intemal use, the Grantee may not publish or reproduce such data
in whole or in part, or in any manner or form, nor may the Grantee authorize others
to do so, without the written consent of the State, until such time as the FTA may

have either released or approved the release of such data to the public.

9.6.2 As authorized by 2 CFR 200, the FTA reserves a royalty-free, non-exclusive, and
irrevocable license to reproduce, publish and otherwise use, and to authorize others
to use, for Federal purposes, any work developed under a grant, cooperative
agreement, subgrant, or third party grant, irrespective of whether a copyright has
been obtained; and any rights of copynght to which a recipient, sub-recipient, or
third party contractor purchases ownership with Federal assistance.

9.7 It is FTA's intent to increase the body of mass transportation knowledge. Therefore, the
Grantee understands and agrees that in addition to the rights set forth in 9.6 (b) above, FTA
may make available to any recipient, subgrantee, grantee, or subgrantee its license in the
copyright to the date derived under this Agreement or a copy of the data first produced
under this Agreement.

9.8 The Grantee shall indemnify, save, and hold harmless the State and United States, their
officers, agents, and employees acting within the scope of their official duties against any
liability, including costs and expenses, resulting from any willful or intentional violation
of the proprietary rights, copyrights, or right of privacy, arising out of the publication,
translation, reproduction, delivery, use, or disposition of any data furnished under this
Agreement.

9.9 Nothing contained in this clause shall imply a license to the United States under any patent
or be construed as affecting the scope of any license or other right otherwise granted to the
United States under any patent.

9.10Sections 9.4, 9.5, and 9.6 above are not applicable to material furnished to the Grantee by
the State or United States and incorporated in the work furnished under the agreement;
provided that such incorporated material is identified by the Grantee at the time of delivery
of such work.

9.1 1 In the event that the project is not completed for any reason, all data developed under the
project shall become subject Data as defined in Section 9.1 and shall be delivered as the
State or FTA may direct.
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A.6. Amend G-1 Section 15. "ASSIGNMENTS/AND/SUBGRANTEES" by adding the
following:

15.1 The Grantee shall cause the provisions of this grant to be inserted in all subgrants for any
w.ork covered by this Agreement so that the provisions will be binding on each subgrantee;
-provided, however, that the foregoing provisions shall not apply to subgrantees for standard
commercial supplies or raw materials. The Grantee shall take such action with respect to
any subgrant as-.the State may direct as a means of enforcing such provisions, including
sanctions for noncompliance. The Grantee shall ensure that any subgrantee has obtained
all licenses, permits, or approvals required for the performance of grant services.

A.7. Amend G-1 by adding "DEFINITIONS" as Section 25:

25. DEFINITIONS

ALLOWABLE COSTS: Costs that are incurred in the performance of the Services
described in Exhibit B and which satisfy the requirements of 2 CFR 200.

EQUIPMENT: An article of nonexpendable, tangible personal having a useful life of
more than one year and an acquisition cost which equals or exceeds the lesser of the
capitalization level established by the governmental unit for financial statement purposes,
or $5,000. Includes rolling stock and all other such property used in the provision of
public transit services.

FTA: U.S. Dcpartincnt of Transportaliuii, Federal Transit Adiuinislialion

SECTION 5339: FTA's Bus and Bus Facilities Formula Program of Moving Ahead for
Progress in the 2U' Century Act (Map-21) of 2012, as amended.

STATE: The State ofNew Hampshire, acting through the Department of Transportation,
Bureau of Rail and Transit.

A.8. Amend G-I by adding "ACCOUNTING, BOOKKEEPING, AND REPORTING
REQUIREMENTS" as Section 26:

26 ACCOUNTING, BOOKKEEPING, AND REPORTING REQUIREMENTS

26.1 Maintenance of Records. The Grantee shall keep and maintain the records, documents,
and accounts described herein for a period of three years after the FTA grant is closed.
The Grantee shall maintain, and make available to the State and FTA, records relating
to complaints and comments received from the public. In the event, that the State
disputes the Grantee's operations or records as submitted for payment or otherwise, the
final resolution shall rest with the State.

26.2 Audits and Inspections. Between the Effective Date and the Completion Date, and for
a period of three (3) years after the FTA grant is closed or the date of the resolution of
all matters relating to this Agreement, whichever is later, at any time during the
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Grantee's normal business hours, and as often as the State or FTA may demand, the
Grantee shall make available to the State and FTA or their designees all records
pertaining to matters covered by this Agreement. The Grantee shall permit the State and
FTA to audit, examine, and reproduce such records, and to make audits of all contracts,
grants, invoices, materials, payrolls, records of personnel, Data (as defined in G-1
section 9.1), and other information relating to all matters covered'by this Agreement. As
used in this paragraph, "Grantee" includes all persons, natural or fictional, affiliated
with, controlled by, or under common ownership with, the entity identified as the
Grantee in 1.3 of G-1.

26.3 General Transit Feed Specification (GTFS). The Grantee shall generate and keep
updated General Transit Feed Specification (GTFS) data and submit related data for
reporting to the National Transit Database (NTD) as required. The Grantee shall submit
related data to the Department upon request.

26.3.1 The Bipartisan Infrastructure Law amended 49 U.S.C. 5335 (a) to require the Federal
Transit Administration to collect "geographic service area coverage" data through
the NTD.

A.9. Amend G-1 by adding "PROJECT EQUIPMENT AND REAL PROPERTY" as
Section 27:

27 PROJECT EQUIPMENT AND REAL PROPERTY. The following terms and
conditions apply to all equipment and real property purchased in whole or in part with
funds provided through this or other Agreements between the State and the Grantee:

27.1 All procurements shall be made in accordance with 2 CFR200 and FTA Circular 4220. IF
and future amendments, and with Buy America requirements, 49 CFR Parts 661 and 663.

27.2 All other equipment with a cost in excess of five hundred ($500) per unit shall be
purchased by the Grantee subject to the prior uppruvul of the State.

27.3 In the event that this agreement is terminated, all project equipment and property become
the property of the State and it is understood and agreed that legal title to such equipment
shall be transferred to the State as soon as feasible. Project equipment will be disposed
of in accordance with FTA Circular 5010.IE, as amended, and the State Management
Plan unless written approval is received from the State.

A.IO. Amend G-1 by adding "EQUIPMENT CERTIFICATION" as section 28;

28 EQUIPMENT CERTIFICATION. The Grantee shall maintain a current inventory
listing of all nonexpendable property involved in this Agreement. The Grantee shall
submit to the State a certification that the equipment is still being used in accordance
with the terms of the Agreement. The inventory listing and equipment certification shall
be supplied to the State by each year, generally by June 30'^.
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A.ll. Amend G-1 by adding "PATENT RIGHTS" as section 29:

29 PATENT RIGHTS. If any invention, improvement, or discovery of the Grantee is
conceived or first actually reduced to practice in the course of or under this grant, which
invention, improvement, or discovery may be patentable under the laws of the United
States or any foreign country, the Grantee shall immediately notify the State and provide
a detailed report. The rights and responsibilities of the Grantee and the State with respect
to such invention, improvement, or discovery will be determined in accordance with
applicabJe Federal laws, regulations, policies, and any waiver thereof.

A.12. Amend G-1 by adding "BROKERAGE REPRESENTATION" as section 30:

30 BROKERAGE REPRESENTATION. The Grantee warrants that it has not employed
or retained any company or person, other than a bona-fide employee working solely for
the Grantee, to solicit or secure this Agreement; and that it has not paid or agreed to pay
any company or person, other than a bona-fide employee working solely for the Grantee,
any fee, commission, percentage, brokerage fee, gifts or any other consideration,
contingent upon or resulting from the award or making of this Agreement. For breach or
violation of this warranty, the State shall have the right to annul this Agreement without
liability or, in its discretion to deduct from the Agreement price or consideration, or
otherwise recover, the full amount of such fee, commission, percentage, brokerage,
brokerage fee, gift, or contingent fee.



Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc.
EXHIBIT B

SCOPE OF SERVICES

B.l CAPITAL PURCHASES

1.1 The Grantee, Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc.
(hereinafter the "Grantee"), will procure the following capital items for use in-
accordance with requirements associated with its FTA Section 5339 Bus and Bus
Facilities program funding within the State: ^

1.1. 1 ITS Equipment Base Computer-Aided Dispatch (CAD) software. The CAD
software may include features such as Automatic Vehicle Location (AVL) +
Real-Time System + Automated Voice Announcements (AVA) as funding
allows. The software package is a communications and operational/passenger
real-time information system that will improve agency communication with riders
and enhance scheduling and dispatch efficiency. The ITS system is an eligible
capital expense under Federal Transit Administration (FTA) guidelines.

1.1.1.1 Maintenance/support of the software for up to five years is eligible to the
extent it is an eligible capital expense under the FTA Section 5339
program.

11 Grant funding for all projects will be provided by the State as shown in Exhibit C.

1.3 Prior to any capital procurement, the Grantee shall submit appropriate procurement
documentation demonstrating compliance with Federal procurement requirements,
including Federal Transit Administration (FTA) Third Party Procurement guidelines
per FTA Circular 4220.1F, or as amended, to the State for review and approval. Such
documentation may include, but is not limited to, the following:

1.3.1 The Grantee will provide verification of utilizing NH's Disadvantaged Business
Enterprise (DBE) directory to invite DBEs to vie for the procurement;

1.3.2 The Grantee will include necessary FTA Clauses/certifications that will be
required to be acknowledged by the vendor;

1.3.3 The Grantee will provide evidence of appropriate procurement methodology
demonstrating fair and open competition, e.g., small procurement, Request for
Proposals (RFP).

1.4 Upon written approval, the Grantee may proceed with the procurement and submit an
invoice to the State for reimbursement of project expenses in compliance with FTA
guidance.

1.5 Upon the conclusion of the procurement, the Grantee shall submit final
documentation to the State.

1.6 The Grantee will purchase the capital equipment in compliance with all applicable



FTA regulations and guidance including FTA Circular 4220.1F, "Third Party'-
Contracting Guidance," or as amended.

1.7 The Grantee may submit a written request to the Slate's contracting officer to modify
the type and/or quantity of the capital equipment detailed in the scope and budget,
provided that said changes are within the contract budget amount. Said written
request must contain sufficient details to support and substantiate the requested
change(s). Within 30 days of receipt of the-Grantee's written request, the State will
provide a written decision to the Grantee as to whether ofino't approval is granted.



Community Action Program Belknap-lVIerrimack County, Inc.
EXHIBIT C

BUDGET

C.I. The Grant Limitation price, as defined in Section 1.8 of the General Provisions, is the
Federal Transit Administration (FTA) Section 5339 portion of the eligible project costs.
Federal funds are granted as follows; - ' .

FTA Section 5339
Total

Project Costs

Federal

(FTA 5339)

State

Match

Local

' Agency
Computer-Aided Dispatching

(CAD) sofhvare $329,000 $263,200 $0 $65,800

Total Funding $329,000 $263,200 $0 $65,800

Total Grant Funds $263,200

C.2

C.3

Funds are contingent upon Federal appropriations. No State funds will be requested.

1.1 The Grant will provide funding through the State, from the FTA Section 5339 Bus
and Bus Facilities Program, for 80% of the cost related to the software, not to
exceed $263,200 Federal funding. The Grantee will pay a non-federal match of
$65,800 (20%), for a total project cost of $329,000.

Pre-approval of any procurement is required by the State as detailed in Exhibit B.

As applicable, the Grantee may seek reimbursement for these funds by submitting
individual invoices for projects/progress payments as completed. Requests shall be
monthly or less frequent.

C.4 The invoice(s) must include verification of source(s) of matching funds.



State of New Hampshire

Department of State

CERTIFICATE

I. David M. Scanlan, Secretary of Stale of the Slate of New Hampshire, do hereby certify that COMMUNITY ACTION

PROGRAM BELICNAP AND MERRIMACK COUNTIES, INC. is a New Hampshire Nonprofit Corporation registered

to transact business in New Hampshire on May 28, 1965. I further certify that all fees and documents required by the Secretary of

State's office have been received and is in good standing as far as this office is concerned.

Business ID; 63021

Certificate Number: 0006656579

<%)

y
©

55^

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF,

I hereto set my hand and cause to be affixed

the Seal of the State of New Hampshire,

this 2nd day of April A.D. 2024.

David M. Scanlan

Secretary of State



COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM
BELKNAP-MERRIMACKCOUNTIES, INC. •-
EMPOWERING COMMUNITI ES SINCE 1965

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHORITY

1. Christopher J. Pvles. Chair. Board of Directors, hereby certify that:

1. 1 am a duly elected officer of Community Action Program Belknao-Merrimack Counties. Inc.

2. The following is a true copy of a vote taken at a meeting of the Board of Directors, duly called
and held on March 14. 2024. at which a quorum of the Directors were present and voting.

VOTED: That Jeanne Agri, Chief Executive Officer/Executive Director, Michael Tabory,
Chief Operating Officer/Deputy Director, Jill Lesmerises, Chief Fiscal Officer, Steven
Gregoire, Budget Analyst, Christopher J. Pyles, Chair, Board of Directors are duly
authorized on behalf of Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties. Inc. to enter

into contracts or agreements with the State of New Hampshire and any of its agencies or
departments and further is authorized to execute any and all documents, agreements and other
instruments, and any amendments, 'revisions, or modifications thereto, which may in his/her
judgment be desirable or necessary to effect the purpose of this vote.

3. I hereby certify that said vote has not been amended or repealed and remains in full force and
effect as of the date of the contract/contract amendment to which this certificate Is attached. This

authority remains valid thirty (30) days prior to and remains valid for thirty (30) days from
the date of this Certificate of Authority. I further certify that it is understood that the Stale of New
Hampshire will rely on this certificate as evidence that the person(s) listed above currently occupy
the position(s) indicated and that they have full authority to bind the corporation. To the extent
that there are any limits on the authority of any listed individual to bind the corporation in
contracts with the State of New Hampshire, all such limitations are expressly stated herein.

Dated: 4/2/2024 Signature of Elected Officer
Chri

Title:

rrJ.

Chair, Board of^Oirectors

Rev. 3/14/2024
klh:CAPBM COA 2024

Mailing Address P.O. Box 1016, Concord, NH 03302 Administrative Office 2 Industrial Park Drive, Concord, NH
Phone; 603 225-3295 | 1 800 856-5525 TTWTDD 1 800 735-2964 Fax:603 228-1898

Website: capbm.org



^CORcf CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE DATE (MM/DO/YYYY)

03/27/2024

THIS CERTIFICATE is"ISSUED* AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPOf^ THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES

BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S}. AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

ORTANT: If the certificate holder Is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(les) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.

■. dUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement. A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder In lieu of such endorsement(s).

PRODUCER

Cross Insuranc^Manchester

1100 Elm Street

Manchester NH 03101

NAMet^^ Stephanie Peffer
(603)669-3218 ,6« (603)64^331

ADDRESS' "Tianch.certsigcrossagency.com
INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE NAIC*

INSURER A Selective Insurance Co. of SC 19259 .

INSURED

Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties Inc.

P. O, Box 1016

Concord NH 03302

INSURER B Granite State Health Care c/o Midwest Employers Casua 23612 .

INSURER C Federal Ins Co ■  20281

INSURERD

INSURER E

INSURER F

COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER: 23-24 All: 24-25 D&O & WC REVISION NUMBER:

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT. TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

InSr"
LTR

POUCY EFF
(MM/OO^YYY|

POLICY EXP
IMM/DDrtYYYlTYPE OF INSURANCE

AODL

mss
SUBK

WVD POUCY NUMBER LIMITS.
X COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

CLAIMS-MAOE OCCUR

EACH OCCURRENCE
DAMAGE TO RENTED
PREMISES lEa oecurrenc*)

MSD EXP (Any one pCfWi)
S 2509940 10/01/2023 10/01/2024 PERSONAL & AOV INJURY

GENT AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER;

POLICY JECT

GENERALAGGREGATE

X
PRODUCTS • COMP/OP AGG

OTHER' Liability Professional Liability

1.000.000

1.000.000

20.000

1.000,000

3,000.000

3.000.000

1.000.000

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

ANY AUTO

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT
(Ea acddenil

1,000.000

BODILY INJURY (Par Mrson)

OWNED
AUTOS ONLY
HIRED
AUTOS ONLY

SCHEDULED
AUTOS
NON-OWNED
AUTOS ONLY

S 2509940 10/01/2023 10/01/2024 BODILY INJURY (Per acddant)

PROPERTY DAMAGE
(Per aeddonll

X UMBRELLA LIAB

EXCESS LIAB

DED X

OCCUR

CLAIMS-MADE

EACH OCCURRENCE 5.000.000

S 2509940 10/01/2023 10/01/2024 AGGREGATE 5.000.000

RETENTION S

WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY

ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE
OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?
(Mandatory In NH)
If yes, descritw under
DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below

X STATUTE
OTH
ER

HCHS20240000547 {3a.) NH 01/01/2024 01/01/2025 E.L. EACH ACCIDENT 1.000.000

E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE
1,000,000

E.L. DISEASE • POLICY LIMIT 1,000.000

Directors & Officers Liability
J06511302 04/01/2024 04/01/2025

Limit

Deductible

S1.000.000

$5,000

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES (ACORO 101. Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space Is required)

[Job#: Job Type: DoT)
State of NH. Dept of Transportation is included as an Additional Insured witli respect to General Liability and Auto Liability as per written contract with the
above named insured. In accordance with NH law. carrier will give 60 days advance notice of cancellation or non-renewal, except for non-payment which is
10 days.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER CANCELLATION

State of New Hampshire Dept of Transportation

7 Hazen Drive

PO Box 483

Concord NH 03302

1

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POUCY PROVISIONS.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

ACORD 25 (2016/03)
<S> 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved.

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORO
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FEDER.AL FISCAL YEAR 2024 CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES FOR FFA

ASSISTANCE PROGRAMS

(Signature pages alternate to providing Certifications aiid Assurances in TrAMS.)

.Name of Applicant: Community' Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc.

The Applicant certifies to the applicable provisions of all categories: {check here) X

The Applicant certifies to the applicable provisions of the categories it has selected:

j

Category Certification

01 Certifications and Assurances Required of Ever>' Applicant

02 Public Transportation Agency Safety Plans

03 Tax Liability and Felony Convictions

04 Lobbying

05 Private Sector Protections

06 Transit Asset Management Plan

07 Rolling Slock Buy America Reviews and Bus Testing

08 Urbanized Area Formula Grants Program

09 Fonnula Grants for Rural Areas

10 Fixed Guideway Capital Investment Grants and the Expedited
Project Delivery for Capital Investment Grants Pilot Program

11 Grants for Buses and Bus Facilities and Low or No Emission

Vehicle Deployment Grant Programs



"Certifications and Assurances " Fiscal Year 2024

12 Enhanced Mobility of Seniors and Individuals with Disabilities
Programs

13 State of Good Repair Grants'

14 Infrastructure Finance Programs

15 Alcohol and Controlled Substances Testing

16 Rail Safety Training and Oversight

17 Demand Responsive Service

18 Interest and Financing Costs

19 Cyberseeurity Certification for Rail Rolling Stock and
Operations

2U Tribal Transit Programs

21 Emergency Relief Program

CERTtFtCATIONS AND ASSURANCKS SIGNATURE PAGE

AFFIRMATION OF APPLICANT

Name of the Applicant; Community Action Profiram Beiknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc.

BY SIGNING BELOW, on behalf of the Applicant. I declare that it has duly authorized me to make these

Certifications and Assurances and bind its compliance. Thus, it agrees to comply with all federal laws, regulations,

and requirements, follow applicable federal guidance, and comply with the Certifications and Assurances as
indicated on the foregoing page applicable to each application its Authorized Representative makes to the Federal
Transit Administration (FTA) in the federal fiscal year, irrespective of whether the individual that acted on his or

her Applicant's behalf continues to represent it.

The Certifications and Assurances the Applicant selects apply lo each Award for which it now seeks, oi may
later seek federal assistance to be awarded by FTA during the federal fiscal year.

The Applicant affirms the truthfulness and accuracy of the Certifications and Assurances it has selected in the
statements submitted with this document and any other submission made to FTA, and acknowledges that the

Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act of 1986, 31 U.S.C. ij 3801 cr seq., and implementing U.S. DOT regulations.
"Program Fraud Civil Remedies," 49 CFR part 31, apply to any certification, assurance or submission made to
FTA. The criminal provisions of 18 U.S.C. § 1001 apply to any ccnification, assurance, or submission made in
connection with a federal public iransponaiion program authorized by 49 U.S.C. chapter 53 or any other statute
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tn signing this document. [ declare under penalties of perjury that the foregoing Certifications and Assurances, and
any other sutemenis made by me on bch3if of the.Applicant arc true and accurate.

.Sijtnnmro ^2^
TT

Mnint- Iciinne Aurl, Chief Executive Officer Authorized Representative ot Applioaat



FFY 2022 MASTER AGREEMENT

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF RECEIPT

The Federal 'IVansil Administration (FTA) Federal Fiscal Year 2022 Master Agreement
requires recipients and subrecipients to comply with the requirements contained in the
agreement in order to receive Federal funds. The language contained in the Master
Agreement must be incorporated into the administration of the agreement my agency has
with the New Hampshire Department of Transportation (NHDOT).

I acknowledge receipt of (he FFY 2022 Federal Transit Administration (FTA) Master
Agreement and understand this agreement is referred to in my agency's agreement with
NHDOT by reference. The Master Agreement remains in force for the term of the
agreement.

Community Action Program, Belknap and
Merrimack Counties, Inc. 5/6/22

Name of Agency Date

Terri Paige, Transportation Director
I  ̂

Name ol Authorized Official Signature



FtA and 2 CFR 200 Agreement " ' ' Revised 07/18/2022

FTA and 2 CFR 200 Agreement

Name ofAwarding Agency: Federal Transit Administration (FTA)

Name of Recipient Agency: New Hampshire Department of Transportation (NHDOT)

Name ofSiibrecipient/Contracting Agency: Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack
Counties, Inc.

Community Action Prosram Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc.. shall comply with all
applicable federal laws, regulations, and requirements as outlined in the most recent Federal
Transit Administration (FTA) Master Agreement and Federal Certifications and Assurances.
This award includes information required by 2 CFR Part 200 as follows:

FTA award proiect description: (As required to be responsive to the Federal Funding Accountability and
Transparency Act (FFA TA)

Amount: $263,200

Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA) number: 20.526
FTA Award Name: FTA SECTION 5339 BUS & BUS FACILITIES PROGRAM

Federal Award Identification Number (FAIN): NH-2023-003

Federal Award Date: 8/3/23

Contact information for sub-awarding official:

Name: Fred Butler Title: Public Transportation Administrator, Bureau of Rail and Transit
Email: Frederick.!.Butler(®dot.nh.gov Phone: 603-271-2565
Is this award for research and development? No
NHDOT's cost rate for the federal award: N/A

Subrecipient/Contractor Information:

Subrecipient/Contractor Name: Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties,

Inc.

Subrecipient/Contractor SAM.GOV I.D.: FNDlA6iVIY3JD3

Name of authorizing subrecipient/contracting official: Jeanne Agri
Title of authorizing subrecipient/contracting official: Executive Director
Federal Clauses: N/A

Master Agreement/Certifications and Assurances: Yes
Subrecipient/Contractor Federal indirect cost rate: N/A
(An approved federally recognized indirect cost rale negotiated between the subrecipient/contractor and the Federal
Government or, if no such rate exists, either a rate negotiated between the pass-through entity and the subrecipient
(in compliance with this part), or a De Minimis indirect cost rate as defined in §200.414 Indirect. (F&A) co.sts,
paragraph (f)).

Subaward Period of performance:



n/TrnujfKU-lnliii

FTA and 2 CFR 200 Agreement Revised 07/18/2022

Start Date; 7/1/23 End Date: 6/30/25

Total amount of FTA sub-award obliaatcd by this action (contract/amendment):

For FFY: 2023 Section: 5339 Amount: $263,200

Total amount of FTA sub-award committed to the subrecipient (original contract & amendmems):

For FFY: 2023 Section: 5339 Amount: $263,200

Pass-through requirements:

The Subrecipienl/Contractor, Coninumiiy Action Prosraiu Bclktmp-Merrimack Counties, Inc.
agrees to meet all requirement imposed by the pass-through entity (NHDOT) on the subrecipient
so that the Federal award is used in accordance with Federal statues, regulations and the terms
and conditions of the Federal award.

The Subrecipient/Contractor, Community Action Program Beiknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc.
agrees to any additional requirements that the pass-through entit>' (NHDOT) Imposes on the
subrecipient in order for the pnr.r.-thrnugh emit)' (NHDOT) in order for the pass-through entity
(NHDOT) to meet its own responsibility to the Federal awarding agency (FTA) including
identification of any required financial and performance reports.

The Subrecipient/Contractor, Community Action Proaram Belknap-Mcrrinmck Counties^ Inc.
agrees to permit the pass-through entity (NHDOT) and auditors to have access to the
subrecipients records and financial statements as necessary for the pass-through entity to meet
the requirements of this part; and appropriate terms and conditions concerning closeout of the
subaward.

Date:

Name of authorizing subrecipient/contracting official: Jeanne Agri

Title of authorizing subrecipient/contracting official: Chief Executive Onicerj

Signature of authorizing subrecipient/contracting officiCc-^i^Ji J'l k y



C Dopurtn»«nt of ihc Ticitsiiry
^jnSB l l\Olnl«rnjl Kevenu* Service

P.O. Box 2508

Cincinnati OH 'iSZOl

In reply refer to: 02<i8<i59780
Oct. 02, 2008 LTR <^1680 EO
02-0270576 000000 00 000

00019992

BODC: TE

23346

COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP &
MERRIMACK COUNTIES INC

PO BOX 1016

CONCORD NH 05302-1016167

Employer Identification Number: 02-0270576
Person to Contact: MR. PILLIS

Toll Free Telephone Number: 1-877-829-5500

Dear TAXPAYER:

This is in response to your request of Sep. 25, 2008, regarding your
tax-exempt status.

Our records indicate that a determination letter was issued in
JULY 1968, that recognized you as exempt from Federal income tax,
and discloses that you are currently exempt under section 501(c)(3)
of the Internal Revenue Code.

Our records also indicate you are not a private foundation within the
meaning of section 509Ca) of the Code because you are described in
section(s) 509(a)(1) and 170(b)(1)(A)(vi) .

Donors may deduct contributions to you as provided In section 170 of
the Code. Bequests, Icguclus, devises, transfers, or gifts to you or
for your use are deductible for Federal estate and gift tax purposes
if they meet the applicable provisions of sections 2055, 2106, and
2522 of the Code.

If you have any questions, please call us at the telephone number
shown in the heading of this letter.

Sincerely yours.

Michele M. Sullivan, Oper. Mgr.

Accounts Management Operations I
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Board of Directors

Community Action Program of Belknap-Merrimack Counties. Inc.

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Community Action Program of
Belknap-Merrimack Counties. Inc. {a nonprofit organization), which comprise the consolidated
statements of financial position as of February 28. 2023 and 2022, and the related consolidated
statements of activities, functional expenses, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related
notes to the consolidated financial statements.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Community Action Program of Belknap-Merrimack Counties. Inc. as of February 28. 2023
and 2022. and the changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditors" Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of Community Action Program of
Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc. and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, In accordance with the
relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

Responsibiiities of Management for the f^inancial Sfafemenfs

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America,
and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and
fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions
or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial, doubt about Community Action Program
of Belknap-Merrimack Counties. Inc.'s ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the
date that the consolidated financial statements are available to be issued.



Aud'nors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement. whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors'

report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing Standards will always detect, a material
misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions.,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal contr.^ol. Misstatements are considered material if there is
a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made
by a reasonable user based on the consolidated financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government
Auditing Standards, we:

•  Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit

•  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the .amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.

•  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of Community Action Program of Belknap-Merrimack Counties,
Inc.'s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

•  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

•  Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate,
that raise substantial doubt about Community Action Program of Betknap-Merrimack Counties.
Inc. s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

VVe are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and liming of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related
matters that we identified during the audit.

Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
as a whole. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards, as required by Title 2 U.S.
Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and
Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a
required part of the consolidated financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of
management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records
used to prepare the consolidated financial statements. The information has been subjected to the
auditing procedures applied ih the audit of the consolidiated financial statements and certain additional
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting
and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the consolidated financial
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards

2



generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the schedule of expenditures of
federal awards is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the consolidated financial
statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated September
14. 2023. on our consideration of Community Action Program of Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc.'s
internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws,
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to
describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of Community Action Program
of Belknap-Merrimack Counties. Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That
report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in
considering Community Action Program of Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc.'s internal control over
financial reporting and compliance.

Dover. New Hampshire
September 14. 2023



COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM SELKNAP ■ MERRIMACK COUNTIES INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Curreni portion of notes payable
Current portion of right of use liability
Line of credit

Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Refundable advances

Total current liabilities

LONG TERM LIABILITIES

Notes payable, less current portion shown above
Right of use liability, less curreni portion shown above
Tenant security deposits

Total liabilities

NET ASSETS

Without donor restrictions

With donor restrictions

Total net assets

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

S  237.926

461.162

4.550.252
1.177,337

1.817.340

8.244,017

668.146
926.165

8.221

9.346.549

5,530.452
564.961

6,095,413

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash

Accounts receivable .

Inventory

Prepaid expenses
Investments

ASSETS

2023

S  1.71 1.575

6.027.912

81,569

100.225

128,956

2022

S  1,384,485
.5,244,621

271,926

33,928

138,793

Total current assets 8.050.237 7,073.753

PROPERTY

Land, buildings and improvements
Equipment, furnilure and vehicles
Construction in process

7.627.214

4.762.497
132.920

7.368,799
6.335.485

41.401

Total properly 12.522.631 13.745.685

Less accumulated depreciation 6,165.156 7.528,363

Properly, net 6,357.475 6.217.322

OTHER ASSETS

Right of use asset
Cash escrow and reserve funds

Tenant security deposits

Due from related party

1.387.327

77,328

8.247

61.348

89.468

9,120

65.488

Total other assets 1.534,250 164.076

TOTAL ASSETS $ 15,941.962 $  ].? 4.5.5,151

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

314.265

154.350

3.635.655

1,086.207

1,537.802

6.728.279

900,489

9.120

7.637,888

5.179,734
637.529

5,817,263

S 15.941.962 S 13.455,151

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP - MERRIMACK COUNTIES. INC.

CONSOLIDAtED STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2023

Without Donor With Donor

Restrictions Restrictions Total

REVENUES AND OTHER SUPPORT

Grant awards

Rental income

Other funds

In-kind

United Way

Interest income

Realized loss on sale of equipment

Total revenues and other support

NET ASSETS RELEASED FROM

RESTRICTIONS

Total

EXPENSES

Program
Management

Total expenses

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS

NET ASSETS. BEGINNING OF YEAR

NET ASSETS, END OF YEAR

$ 56,930,603

140,962

2,804,065

401.748

3,659

895

(36.538)

60,245.394

3,194.861

63,440,255

61,101,300
1.988,237

63,089,537

350,718

5,179,734

S  5,530,452

3,122,293

3.122,293

(3.194.861)

(72,568)

637,529

$ 56,930,603

140,962
5,926,358

401.748

3.659

895

(36.538)

63.367,687

(72.568) 63,367,687

61.101,300
1,988,237

63,089.537

278,150

5,817.263

564,961 S 6.095,413

See Notes.to Consolidated Financial Statements



COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP ■ MERRIMACK COUNTIES JNC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED.FEBRUARY 28, 2022

Without Donor

Restrictions

REVENUES AND OTHER SUPPORT

Grant awards S  36,482.087

Rental Income 135,298

Other funds 2,526.432

Paycheck Protection Program Loan Forgiveness 1,615,427

In-kind 592,136

United Way '  2,123
Interest Income 74

Realized gain on sale of equipment 7.200

Total revenues and other support 41.360.777

NET ASSETS RELEASED FROM

RESTRICTIONS 3.062,287

Total 44.423,064

EXPENSES

Program 40.084.851

Management 1,917.438

Total expenses 42.002,289

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS 2,420,775

NET ASSETS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 2,758,959

NET ASSETS, END OF YEAR S  5,179,734

With Donor

Restrictions

2.650.984

2.650,984

(3,062.287;

(411.303)

(411,.303)

1,048,832

637,529

Total

S  36.482,087

135.298

5.177.416

1,615.427

592,136

2,123
74

7.200

44.011,761

44,011.761

40.084,851
1.917,438

42,002,289

2,009,472

3.807,791

5,817,263

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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COMIVIUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP - MERRIMACK COUNTIES. INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2023

Proaram Manaqement Total

Salaries and wages S  8,902.376 S  841,141 S 9,743.517

Payroll taxes and benefits 2,422.222 155,843 2,578,065

Travel 233,521 16.301 249.822

Occupancy 1.360.924 133,139 1.494,063

Program services 44.607.205 - 44.607,205
Other costs;

Accounting fees 66.194 1.959 68,153
Legal fees 24.793 268 25,061

Supplies 289,188 38.955 328.143

Postage and shipping 45,766 - 45,766
Equipment rental and maintenance 1,540 - 1,540

Printing and publications 41.775 15,970 57,745

Conferences, conventions and meetings 13,885 - 13,885

Interest 3,991 39.049 43.040

Insurance 131,454 30,788 162,242

Membership fees 13.298 10,283 23.581

Utility and maintenance 139,247 - 139,247

Computer services 71.214 - 71.214

Other 2,298,910 139,405 2,438.315

Depreciation 32.049 565.136 597,185
In-kind 401,748 - 401,748

Total functional expenses $  61.101.300 S  1,988.237 S 63.089,537

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements



COIVIMUNITV ACTIQN.PROGRAM BELKNAP - MERRIMACK COUNTIES. INC.;-

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2022

Proqram Manaaement Total

Salaries and wages S  7,961.177 S 1,180,579 S 9,141.756

Payroll laxes and benefits 2,296,690 228,375 2,525,065

Travel 194,343 9,648 203,991

Occupancy 1.267,982 114.418 1.382,400

Program services 25.639.659 -
25,639,659

Other costs:

Accounting fees • 74,855 74,855

Legal fees 15,361 152 15,513

Supplies 159.844 44,534 204,378

Postage and shipping 49,860 8.731 58,591

Equipment rental and maintenance 1.141 -
1,141

Printing and publications 28,133 27,696 55,829

Conferences, conventions and meetings 13.964 -
13,964

Interest 29.187 26,841 56,028

Insurance 124.730 43,856 168,586

Membership fees 16.276 - 16.276

Utility and maintenance 88,702 104,142 192,844

Computer services 111,990 ♦ 111,990

Other 927,525 53,611 981,136

Depreciation 566,151 - 566,151

In-kind 592,136 - 592.136

Total functional expenses S 40,084.851 S 1.917,438 S 42,002.289

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

8



. COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP -.MERRiMACK COUNTIES. INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2023 AND 2022

2023 2022

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Change in net assets
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to

net cash from operating activities:
Depreciation
Paycheck Protection program loan forgiveness
Interest on deferred financing costs
Realized loss on disposal of equipment
Decrease (increase) in current assets:

Accounts receivable

Inventory

Prepaid expenses
Due from related party
Tenant security deposits

Increase (decrease) in current liabilities:

Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Refundable advances

Tenant security deposits

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from sale of property

Additions to property
Investments

NEt CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Net repayments on line of credit
Repayment of long term debt

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND RESTRICTED CASH

CASH AND RESTRICTED CASH BALANCE. BEGINNING OF YEAR

CASH AND RESTRICTED CASH BALANCE. END OF YEAR

CASH AND RESTRICTED CASH:

Cash

Cash escrow and reserve funds

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:

Cash paid during the year for Interest

5 278.150

597,185

433

36,538

(783,291)
190,357

(66,297)

4,140
873

914,597

91,130
279,538

(899)

1.542,504

(773,876)
9,837

(764,039)

(154,350)
(309.165)

(463.515)

314.950

1,473.953

S 1,788,903

S 1.711.575

77.328

s 1,788.903

s 43,040

2.009,472

566,151
(1,615,427)

483

(7.200)

(1,481.812)
(216,031)

39.781

(65,488)
(2.239)

2.109,823

297.256

500.861

2,239

2.137.869

7.200
(1,141.101)

(1,144,698)

(225.678)
(258.743)

(484.421)

508.750

965,203

S 1,473,953

s 1.384,485

89.468

$ 1,473,953

s 56.028

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP - MERRIMACK COUNTIES. INC.

NOTES TO CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2023 AND 2022

1. ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Nature of Organization

Community Action Program Belknap - Merrimack Counties, Inc. (the Organization) is a"
New Hampshire nonprofit organization that serves nutritional, health, living and support
needs of the low income and elderly clients in the two county service areas, as well as
state wide. These services are provided with the financial support of various federal,
state, county and local organizations.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Community Action
Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc., and the following entities as Community
Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties. Inc. has both an economic interest and
control of the entities through a majority voting interest in their governing board. All
significant intercompany items and transactions have been eliminated from basic
consolidated financial statements.

■  Sandy Ledge Limited Partnership
■  CAP BMC Development Corporation

Basis of Accounting

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
accrual basis of accounting in accordance with the accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements of the Organization have been prepared in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, which require the
Organization to report information regarding its Financial position and activities
according to the following net asset classifications:

Net assets without donor restrictions include net assets that are not

subject to any don'or-imposed restrictions and may be expended for any
purpose in performing the primary objectives of the Organization. These
net assets may be used at the discretion of the Organization's
management and board of directors.

Net assets with donor restrictions include net assets subject to
stipulations imposed by donors and grantors. Some donor restrictions are
temporary in nature: those restrictions will be met by actions of 'the
Organization or by passage of time. Other donor restrictions are perpetual
in nature, whereby the donor has stipulated the funds be maintained in
perpetuity.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2023 AND 2022

Donor restricted contributions are reported as increases in net assets with donor
restrictions. When restrictions expire, net assets are reclassified from net assets with
donor restrictions to net assets without donor restrictions in the consolidated statements

of activities.

The Organization had net assets with donor restrictions of S564.961 and $637,529 at
February 28, 2023 and 2022. respectively. See Note 14.

Income Taxes

Community Action Program of BelKnap-Merrimack Counties. Inc. is organized as a
nonprofit corporation and is exempt from federal income taxes under Internal Revenue
Code Section 501(c)(3). The Internal Revenue Service has determined them to be other
than a private foundation.

The Organization files information returns in the United States and the State of New
Hampshire. The Organization is subject to examinations by tax authorities for three
years.

CAP BMC Development Corporation (the Corporation) is taxed as a "C" Corporation
under the Internal Revenue Code. The Corporation accounts for deferred income taxes
under the asset and liability method in accordance with Accounting Standards
Codification No. 740 (ASC 740), Accounting for (ncome Taxes". The objective of this
method is to establish deferred tax assets and liabilities for temporary differences
between the financial reporting basis and the tax basis of the Company's assets and
liabilities at the enacted tax rate expected to be in effect when such amounts are
realized or settled. ASC 740 also requires deferred tax assets and liabilities to-be shown
separately. There are no deferred tax assets or liabilities. The Corporation has no
federal net operating loss carryfonA/ards available at February 28. 2023 and 2022.

Sandy Ledge Limited Partnership (the Partnership) is taxed as a partnership. Federal
income taxes are not payable, or provided by the partnership. Earnings and losses are
included in the partners' federal income tax returns based on their share of partnership
earnings. Partnerships are required to file income tax returns with the State pf New
Hampshire and pay an income tax at the state's statutory rate.

Accounting Standard Codification No. 740 (ASC 740), Accounting for Income Taxes,
established the minimum threshold for recognizing, and a system for measuring, the
benefits of tax return positions in consolidated financial statements. The Organization
has analyzed its tax position taken on its incorhe tax returns for the past three years,
and has concluded that no additional provision for income taxes is necessary in the
Organization's consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2023 AND 2022

Property

Property and equipment is recorded at cost or. if donated, at the approximate fair value
at the date of the donation. Assets purchased with a useful life in excess of one year
and exceeding $5,000 are capitalized unless a lower threshold is required by certain
funding sources. Depreciation is computed on the straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of the related assets as follows:

Buildings and improvements 40 years
Equipment, furniture and vehicles 3- 10 years

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with United States
generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect certain reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For purposes of the consolidated statements of cash flows, the Organization considers
all liquid investments purchased with original maturities of three months or less to be
cash equivalents.

The Organization maintains its cash in bank deposit accounts, which at times may
exceed federally insured limits. The Organization has not experienced any losses in
such accounts and believes it is not exposed to any significant risk with respect to these
accounts.

Contributions

All contributions are considered to be available for unrestricted use unless specifically
restricted by the donor. Amounts received that are restricted by the donor for future
periods .or for specific purposes are reported as temporarily restricted or permanently
restricted support, depending on the nature of the restriction. However, if a restriction is
fulfilled in the same period in which the contribution is received, the Organization reports
the support as unrestricted.

Contributed Services

Donated services are recognized as contributions in accordance with FASB ASC No.
958. Accounting for Contributions Received and Contributions Made, if the-services (a)
create or enhance non-financial assets or (b) require specialized skills, and would
otherwise be purchased by the Agency.

Volunteers provided various services throughout the year that are not recognized as
contributions in the consolidated financial statements since the recognition criteria under
FASB ASC No. 958 were not met.
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COMIVIUNITY ACJIQN.RROGRAM BELKNAP - MERRIMACK COUNTIES. INC. .

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2023 AND 2022

In-Kind Donations / Noncash Transactions

Donated facilities, services and supplies are reflected as revenue and expense in ttie
accompanying consolidated financial statements, if the criteria for recognition is met.
This represents the estimated fair value for the service, supplies and space that the
Organization might incur under normal operating activities. The Organization received
$401,748 ah'd $592,136 in donated facilities, services and supplies for the years ended
February 28. 2023 and February 28, 2022. respectively (See Note 17).

Advertising

The Organization expenses advertising costs as they are incurred. Total advertising
costs for the years ended February 28. 2023 and February 28, 2022 totaled SI33.749
and $134,193, respectively.

Inventorv

Inventory consists of weatherization supplies and work in process and is valued at the
lower of cost or net realizable value, using the first-in, first-out method.

Revenue Recognition

Amounts received from conditional grants and contracts for specific purposes are
generally recognized as income to the extent that related expenses and conditions are
incurred or met. Conditional grants received prior to the conditions being met are
reported as refundable advances. Contributions of cash and other assets are reported
as with donor restrictions if they are received with donor imposed stipulations that limit
the use of the donated assets. However, if a restriction is fulfilled in the same period in
which the contribution is received, the Organization reports the support as without donor
restrictions.

Program Service Revenue

Program service revenue is recognized as revenue when the services are performed.

Rental Revenue

Sandy Ledge (the Partnership) derives revenues from the rental of apartment units.
Revenues are recognized as income, monthly, when rents become due, and control
of the apartment units is transferred to the lessees. The individual leases are for a
term of one year and are cancelable by the tenants. Control of the leased units is
transferred to the lessee in an amount that reflects the consideration the Partnership
expects to be entitled to in exchange for the leased units. The cost incurred to obtain
the lease will be expensed as incurred.

Functional Allocation of Expenses

The costs of providing the various programs and other activities have been presented in
the Consolidated Statements of Functional Expenses. Accordingly, certain costs have
been allocated among the program services and supporting activities benefited.
Expenses are charged to each program based on the direct expenses incurred or
estimated usage based on time spent on each program by staff.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2023 AND 2022

Expense Method of allocation

Wages and benefits'^ Time and effort
Depreciation Actual assets used by program
All other expenses Direct assignment

New Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2016. the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting
Standards Update (ASU) 2016-02. Leases (Topic 842). to increase transparency and
comparability among organizations by recognizing lease assets and lease liabilities on
the statement of financial position and disclosing key information about leasing
arrangements for lessees and lessors. The standard applies a right of use model that
requires, all leases with a lease term of more than 12 months, to recognize an asset
representing its right to use the underlying asset for the lease term and liability to make
lease payments to be recorded. The Organization elected not to restate the comparative
period. The Organization also elected not to reassess at adoption (I) expired or existing
contracts to determine whether they are or contain a lease, (ii) the lease classification of
any existing leases, (iii) initial direct costs for existing leases. The adoption of ASU
2016-02 resulted in the recognition of operating right of use assets of $1,387,327 and
operating right of use lease liabilities of $1,387,327 as of March 1, 2022. Results for
periods beginning prior to February 28, 2022 continue to be reported in accordance with
the Organization's historical accounting treatment. The adoption of ASU'2016-02 did not
have a material irhpact on the Organization's results of operations and cash flows.

In September 2020, the FASS issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2020-
07, Not-for-profit Entities (Topic 958): Presentation and Disclosures by Not for-Profit
Entities for Contributed Nonfinancial Assets, intended to improve transparency in the
reporting of contributed nonfinancial assets, also known as gifts-in-kInd, for not-for-profit
organizations. Examples of contributed nonfinancial assets include fixed assets such as
land, buildings, and equipment: the use of fixed assets or utilities; materials and
supplies, such as food or clothing; intangible assets; and recognized contributed
services. The ASU requires a not for-profit organization to present contributed
nonfinancial assets as a separate line item in the statement of activities, apart from
contributions of cash or other financial assets. It also requires certain disclosures for
each category of contributed nonfinancial assets recognized. The Agency adopted the
provisions of ASU 2020-07 during 2022.

2. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Accounts receivable are stated at the amount management expects to collect from
balances outstanding at year end. Balances that are still outstanding after management
has used reasonable collection efforts are written off through a charge to the valuation
allowance and a credit to accounts receivable. The allowance for uncollectible accounts
was estimated to be zero at February 28. 2023 and 2022. The Organization has no
policy for charging Interest on overdue accounts.
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CQMMUMITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP - MERRIMACK COUNTIES. INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2023 AND 2022

3. REFUNDABLE ADVANCES

Grants received in advance are recorded as refundable advances and recognized as
revenue in the period in which, the related services or expenditures are performed or
incurred. Funds received in advance of grantor conditions being met aggregated
$1,817,340 and $1,537,802 as of February 28.:2023 and 2022, respectively.

4. LIQUIDITY AND AVAILABILITY

The following represents the Organization's financial assets as of February 28:

Financial assets at year end:
Cash and cash equivalents, undesignated
Accounts receivable

Investments

Cash reserves

Cash escrow

Total financial assets

Less amounts not available to be used within one year:
Net assets with donor restrictions

Reserve funds

Amounts not available within one year

Financial assets available to meet general
expenditures over the next twelve months

2023

$  1,711,575
6,027,912

128.956

74,847

2.481

7.945.771

564.961

74.847

639.808

S  7.305.963

2022

1.384,485
5,244,621

f38.793

81,143
8.325

6.857.367

637,529

81.143

718.672

It is the Organization's goal to maintain financial assets to meet 60 days of operating
expenses which approximates $10,200,000 and $6,710,000, at February 28. 2023 and
2022, respectively. The Organization has a line of credit with $700,000 and $445,650.
available to borrow on at February 28. 2023 and 2022. respectively.

5. RETIREMENT PLAN

The Organization has a qualified contributory pension plan which covers substantially all
employees. The cost of the plan is charged to programs administered by the
Organization. The expense of the plan for the year ended February 28, 2023 and 2022
totaled $209,878 and $186,976, respectively.
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PROGRAM BELKNAP - MERRJMACKlCOUNTIES. INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2023 AND 2022

6. OPERATING LEASES

On JanuafV '1, 2022. the Organization was required'.to adopt ASU 2016-02, Leases
(Topic 842). As part of implementing ASU 2016-02. the Organization evaluated current
contracts to determine which met the criteria of a lease. The right of use (ROU) assets
represent the Organization's right to use underlying assets for the lease term, and the
lease liabilities represent the Organization's obligation to make lease payments arising
from these leases. The ROU assets and lease liabilities, all of which arise from
operating leases, were calculated based on the present value of future lease payments
over the lease terms. The Organization has elected to discount future cash flows at the
risk free borrowing rates commensurate with the lease terms, which was 1.8% at March
1, 2022. Common expenses, classified as occupancy costs in the accompanying
financial statements, are considered a non-lease component under FASB ASC 842 and
are recognized as costs are incurred. The Organization's operating leases are
described below.

Facilities occupied by the Organization for its community service programs are leased
under various operating leases. The lease terms range from month to month to twenty
years. For the year ended February 28, 2023 and 2022, the annual lease expense for
the leased facilities was $586,539 and $544,299. respectively.

The approximate future minimum lease payments on the above leases are as follows;

Year Ended

February 28 Amount

2024 $ 488,157
2025 287,5,90
2026 92,911

2027 82.006
2028 77,500

Thereafter 477,065
1,505,229

Less imputed interest 117.902

Total S 1.387.327

7. ACCRUED EARNED TIME

The Organization has accrued a liability for future annual leave time that its employees
have earned and vested with the employees in the amount of S691,684 and $660.158 at
February 28, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The Organization amended the policy
effective March 1, 2022, the policy allows for a maximum of 50 days to be carried over
to the next fiscal year, however, upon termination only two weeks will be paid out. The
two week liability Is $285,599 at February 28. 2023.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2023 AND 2022

8. BANK LINE OF CREDIT

The Organization has a $200,000 revolving line of credit agreement (the line) with a
bank that is due on demand. The line calls for monthly variable interest payments based
on the Wall Street Journal Prime Rate (7.75% and 3.25% at February 28. 2023 and
2022, respectively) plus 1%. but hot less than 6% per annum. The line is secured by all
the Organization's assets. There was no balance outstanding at February 28, 2023.
There was a balance of $154,350 outstanding at February 28. 2022.

The Organization had a revolving line of credit agreement (the line) in the amount of
$400,000. with a bank that is due on demand. The line called for monthly variable
interest payments based on the LIBOR rate (2.41% at February 28, 2022). The line was
secured by all the Organization's assets. There was no balance outstanding at February
28, 2022. The line was closed during the year ended February 28, 2023.

The Organization entered into an additional revolving line of credit agreement (the line)
in the amount of $500,000, with a bank that is due on June ,2, 2023. The line calls for
monthly variable interest payments based on the Wall Street Journal Prime Rate (7.75%
at February 28, 2023). The line is secured by all the Orgariization's assets. There was
no balance outstanding at February 28. 2023.

9. CONCENTRATION OF RISK

For the year ended February 28, 2023, approximately $18,300,000 (29%), and
$32,000,000 (51%), of the Organization's total revenue was received from the
Department of Health and Human Services and the Department of Treasury,
respectively. For the year ended February 28. 2022, $13,200,000 (30%). and
$15,300,000 (35%). of the Organization's total revenue was received from the
Department of Health and Human Services and the Department of Treasury,
respectively. The future scale and nature of the Organization is dependent upon
continued support from these departments.

10. LONG TERM DEBT

Long term debt consisted of the following as of February 28:

2023 2022

5.50% note payable to a financial institution in
monthly installments for principal and interest of
$1,634 through July 2039. The note is secured by
property of the Organization. $ 210,560 $ 218,228
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- MFRF^MACK COUNTIES. INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2023 AND 2022

2023 2022

5.75% note payable to a financial institution in
monthly installments for principal and interest of
$13,912 through July 2023. The note is secured by
property of the Organization for Lakes Region Family
Center.

3.00% note payable to the City of Concord for
leasehold improvements in monthly installments for
principal and interest of $747 through May 2027. The
note is secured by property of the Organization for the
agency administrative building renovations.

7.00% note payable to a bank in monthly installments
for principal and interest of $4,842 through May 2023.
The note is secured by a first real estate mortgage
and assignment of rents and leases on property
located in Concord, New Hampshire for Early Head
Start.

1.00% Paycheck Protection Program loan payable to
a bank in monthly installments for principal and
interest of $7,511 through April 2025. $1,615,427 of
the proceeds received was forgiven during the year
ended February 28. 2022. (See Note 11).

Non-interest bearing note payable by Sandy Ledge
Limited Partnership to New Hampshire Housing
deferred until June 1, 2034 or until the project is sold
or refinanced or surplus cash is available. The note is
collateralized by a mortgage on real estate.

Total long-term debt before unamortized deferred
financing cost

Unamortized deferred financing costs

Less amounts due within one year

Long term portion

71,040 219.279

35,179 42,958

65.076 116.572

187,615 280.439

341.922 343.081

911,392

(5.320)

906,072

(237.926)

,146

1,220,557

(5.803)

1.214,754

(314.265)
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.  COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAIVL BELKNAP - MERRIMACK COUNTIES. INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2023 AND 2022

The scheduled maturities of long-term debt as of February 28, 2023 were as follows:

Year Ending
February 28 Amount . -

.  2024 $ 237,926

2025 106,239

2026 27,053

2027 18,294

2028 11,783

Thereafter 510.097

$  911.392

11. PAYCHECK PROTECTION PROGRAM

In April 2020, the Organization received loan proceeds in the amount of $1,935,300
under the Paycheck Protection Program ("PPP"). The PPP, was established as part of
the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act ("CARES Act").

On September 14, 2021, the Organization received partial forgiveness in the amount of
$1,615,427. The forgiven proceeds are included in income for the year ended February
28, 2022. The remaining $319,873 has been converted to a loan, due in 44 monthly
payments of principal and interest at a rate of 1%. The loan will mature in April 2025.
The outstanding balance on the PPP loan at February 28. 2023 is $187,615. (See Note
10).

12. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consisted of the following as of February 28:.

2023 2022

Land $  279.340 $ 279.340

Building and improvements 7,347,874 7,089.459

Equipment and vehicles 4,762.497 6,335,485

Construction in process 132,920 41.401

12.522,631 .13,745,685

Less accumulated depreciation 6.165.156 7.528.363

Property and equipment, net S  6.357.475 $ 6.217.322

Depreciation expense for the years ended February 28, 2023 ..and 2022 totaled

$597,185 and $566,151 . respectively.
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COMMUNITY ACTION PRQGRAM>BBLKNAP ̂  MERRIMACK COUNTIES. INC.^..

NOTES TO CONSdLIDATEb FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2023 AND 2022

13. CONTINGENCIES

The Organization receives grant funding from various sources.. Under the terms of these
agreements,-the Organization is required to use the funds within a certain period and for
purposes specified by the governing laws and regulations. If expenditures were found
not to have been made in'Compliance with the laws and regulations, the Organization
might be required to repay the funds. No provisions have been made for this
contingency because specific amounts, if any, have not been determined or assessed
as of February 28, 2023.

14. NET ASSETS WITH DONOR RESTRICTIONS

Net assets with donor restrictions are available for the following specific program
services as of February 28:

2023 2022

NH Food Pantry Coalition $  663 $ 663

Senior Center 142,251 143,437

Elder Services 7,317 68,427

Mary Gale 38,130 25.629

NH Rotary Food Challenge ,  5,064

Summer Feeding 20,503 47,540

Caring Fund 8.793 8,792

Agency - FAP 60.913 27,307

Agency Head Start 216.604 222,258

Agency - FP/PN 69,329 87.253

Community Crisis - 350

Other Programs 458 809

Total net assets with donor restrictions S  564.961 $. 637.529

15. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Organization serves as the management agent for the following organizations:

Related Party

Beimont Elderly Housing, Inc.
Epsom Elderly Housing. Inc.
Alton Housing for the Elderly. Inc.
"Pembroke Housing for the Elderly, Inc.
Newbury Elderly Housing, Inc.
Kearsarge Elderly Housing. Inc.
Riverside Housing Corporation
Tvyin Rivers Community Corporation
Ozanam Place, Inc.

TRCC Housing Limited Partnership

Functton

HUD Property
HUD Property
HUD Property
HUD Property
HUD'Property
HUD Property
HUD Property

Property Developrhent
Transitional Support Services
Low Income HoCising Tax

Credit Property
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COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP -MERRIMACK COUNTIES. INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2023 AND 2022

The services performed by the Organizatiofi included, marketing, accounting, tenant
selection (for the HUD properlies), HUD compliance (for the HUD properties), and
maintenance of property.

The arpount due from the related parties for operating activities (collectively) at February
28, 2023 and 2022 was $268,293 and $324,385, respectively, and is included in
accounts receivables. Additional amounts due from related parties at February 28, 2023
and 2022 were $61,348 and 65.488. respectively.

16. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc. has also invested money
relating to its Fix-it program in certain mutual funds. The fair value of the mutual funds
totaled $128,956 and $138,793 at February 28, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

ASC Topic No. 825-10, Financial Instruments, provides a definition, of fair value which
focuses on an exit price rather than an entry price, establishes a framework in generally
accepted accounting, principles for measuring fair value which emphasizes that fair value is
a market-based measurement, not an entity-specific measurement, and requires
expanded disclosures about fair value measurements. In accordance with FASB ASC 820,
the Organization may use valuation techniques consistent with market, income and cost
approaches to measure fair value. As a basis for considering market participant
assumptions in fair value measurements, FASB ASC 820 establishes a fair value
hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair values. The hierarchy gives
the highest priority to Level 1 measurements and the lowest priority to Level 3
measurements. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy under FASB ASC 820 are
described as follows:

Level 1 - Inputs to the valuation methodology are quoted prices available in
active markets for identical investments as of the reporting date.

Level 2 - Inputs to the valuation methodology are other than quoted market
prices in active markets, which are either directly or indirectly observable as
of the reporting date, and fair value can be determined through the use of
models or other valuation methodologies.

Level 3 - Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable inputs in
situations where there is little or no market activity for the asset or liability
and the reporting entity makes estimates and assurhptions related to the
pricing of the asset or liability including assumptions regarding risk

At February 28, 2023 and 2022, the Organization's investments were classified as Level 1
and were based on fair value.
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COMMUNITY ACTJQN'-RROGRAM BELKNAP - MERRIMACK CQUNTiES. JNC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2023 AND 2022

Fair Value Measurements using Significant Observable Inputs (Level 1)

2023 2022

Beginnipg balance - mutual funds $ 138,793 $ 126,996
Total gains (losses) - mutual funds (9.837) 11,797

Ending balance - mutual funds $ 128.956 S 138.793

The carrying amount of cash, current assets, other assets and current liabilities,
approximates fair value because of the short maturity of those instruments.

17. IN-KIND CONTRIBUTIONS/SERVICES

The Organization records the value of in-kind contributions according to the accounting
policies described in Note 1.

The fair value of gifts in kind included contributions in the financial statements and the
corresponding program expenses for the year ended February 28. 2023, is as follows:

Volunteer hours

Head Start and Early Head Start $ 117,171
SCSEP 88.700

Rental space 146,026
Advertising 15,960
Donated goods 33.891

Total S 401.748

18. RECLASSIFICATION

Certain amounts and accounts from the prior year financial statements have been
reclassified to enhance the comparability with the presentation of the current year.

19. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Organization has evaluated subsequent events through September 14, 2023, the
date the consolidated financial statements were available to be issued.
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ASSISTANCE LISTING

NUMBER

IC.565

10.565

10.562

ILl.Wj'r

9^012

FEDERAL GRANTOR/

PROGRAM TIUE

HOOD USTRIUUIKJN CLCSIbK

Cofflmodif/ SuBCl->r«mai ̂oc'fl Pts^tafri
Commodity SuDctemental Food Prooram
Dneioaoo Tooj Asaisaoce Progtam-AcmificsO'atw^
Emcwcncy Voo3 .Asowro.icc Proofom

CORPORATION .^OR NATIONAL & COMMUNITV SERVICES

FOSTER GRANDPARENTS'SENlOR COMPANION CLUST ER

Seivo' CtMMpeiiion PioQiwn

US DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

Fuftnulv (■J< Ru«> Aie<>»-Cu'i:<>iil Tiiiti>i|

IHfvNSlI SERVICES PRCGKAMSCLUSItS

EnAanoed MooiIin o* Sar.cn 6 h-d vv;UiaeMiBc»-CAT
Cnhanard l/ooiiiry ot Series & tr-d W/OiseM.ties-Mid SisSe TiarBPoralion
EnrcncM l/oMN c' Scr.cfs & Ir.o W/OlssM.MS. VNurue' Orve-s

US DEPARTMENT OF RQUSINO AMP URBAN DEVELOPMENT

Emeioencr SOuicni Oiart
CV-Emefwnr/ So"ut«n» G.ori

SinxioMiv>! Housing

Co'S'iuum 01 Cart Program -

US DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY

ll.>A-Vi/«atNenzaiion Assrslar.ce Loa Income Persons
'Aicaihcnzsiior /\ssiJiorco to' Lon- ircomc Persons

US DEPARTMENT OF LABOR

ictaoi Cotnmjnilv ecrvec Emcicyrnort Ptoorsm

U.S. DEPARTt/EHT OF THE TREASURY

Corarainrus State snc Loxl .*iscel Reoivcry 'urvss

Errergency Rental Aasisiartce Program
Emerpertcy Rental .Assistarce Program
Emergency Rental Assiaiance Program
Emeigei>cy Rental Prcyram
Eme-gency Rental Astisiaxe Program
Emeracrtcy Rental Assistance Program

NON-FEDERAL
NEW KAAtPSHIRE PUBLIC UTlLtTIES COMPANY

Electrical Aanslarce Prcgtam

See Motes to the Schediriv cf Eipenditures ot Federal Awarrti
■}*

PASS THROUGH GRANTOR'S NAME

TO SK-
20.5i:-
20 51J

t-t 231
ta,23l

14 235

14.257

61042
51.042

Siaio ot Mew HamcsNro
Staie oT I4ei> Hamcsiitc
State of Ne'er Marrcsriiie
State 01 Moi> Hamcshitc

Slate oi Nitm Hanoshirif.DeaeitKiexlul TiariHio^laiAm

Slate ol '4ew Hor7c»nire-Uecartr-tcn! oi i raasoorta'jon
Gtale of New HarTosri.-e-Oecartmeni ol Ttensooraiion
l/ertimaOt County

Stale cf Hen' Hanvanire
Slate of Mew Hemosni'e

Stale o< New Mainps-n'v

State ol Mew Hcmjj&nirc

Slate of Mew llarrpshire
State 51 NOW Morrpcrrre

Slate at Kcw Hcirpyinc

21 027 MH Houjrg

21 023 MorrrnecK County
21 023 M'H Houirig CRAPi

21.023 NT 1 i lourung ERAP 7
?1 fl/.T MH Hr«.i<ung
21.023 NK Hdusmg H£S

21 023 MH Hcsislrg

IPENTffYtNG NUMBER

204UHa--iYS'M5
2CMNH314V8X'5
Etrsocoo
El 750200
CLUSTER TOTAL

U5DA TOTAL

l6SCANr-0D:

CNCS TOTAL

NH-12-XCM3
Ntl-10-X043
MH 65 X001

CLUSTER lOIAL

DOT TOTAL

0695-42-42.3010-7927
0695-42^?3C'i'>7927

total

0635-42-423OtO-7927.;02-5O373'

06iJ5-42.4230l->7927-iOJ-50::3i

HUD TOTAL

vi'V )t-uMioi>aoxir>a:> .vcra;

CJ-;?-j;.V3>19-3Ji4080M'4»»5lt

0<^ TOTAL

1044/01

DDL TOTAL

r4.Fnroi45

Cold Weather Ftmds
CR.A0'2i2ard GRA0435
FR402-.? and ERAftJ3ri

ERAEOnS

Housing Staciiier
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CQMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP-IVIERRIIVIACK COUNTIES. INC.

NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2023

NOTE 1 BASIS OF PRESENTATION
The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards {the Schedule)
includes the federal award activity of Community Action Program Belknap-
Merrimack Counties, Inc. under programs of the federal government for the year
ended February 28, 2023. The information in this Schedule is presented in
accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations
Part 200. Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit
Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Because the Schedule
presents only a selected portion of the operations of Community Action Program
Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc., it is not intended to and does not present the
financial position, changes in net assets, or cash flows of the Organization.

NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of
accounting. Such expenditures are recognized following the cost principles
contained In the Uniform Guidance, wherein certain types of expenditures are not
allowable or are limited as to reimbursement. Negative amounts shown on the
Schedule represent adjustments or credits made in the normal course of
business to amounts reported as expenditures in prior years.

NOTE 3 INDIRECT COST RATE

Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc. has elected to use
the ten percent de minimis indirect cost rate allowed under the Uniform
Guidance.

NOTE 4 FOOD COMMODITIES AND VEHICLES
Nonmonetary assistance is reported in the Schedule at the fair value of the
commodities received and disbursed.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL

REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON

AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED

IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUPmNG STANDARDS

To the Board of Directors

Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc.

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government
Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial
statements of Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties. Inc. (a nonprofit
organization), which comprise the statement of financial position as of February 28. 2023, and
the related statements of activities, functional expenses, and cash flows for the year then
ended, and the related notes to the financial statements, and have issued our report thereon
dated September 14.. 2023.

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered Community
Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting
(internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Community Action Program
Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc.'s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an
opinion on the effectiveness of Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties,
Inc.'s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to
prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable
possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented,
or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this, section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control
that might be matefjai weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during
our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material
weaknesses. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were
not identified.
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Report on Compliance and Other Matters '

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Connmunity Action Program
Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc.'s financial statements are free from'material misslatement.
we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts,
and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on
the determination of the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance
with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we-do not express
such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other
matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Organization's internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the
Organization's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable
for any other purpose.

Dover, New Hampshire
September 14, 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH

MAJOR PROGRAM AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE

REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE

To the Board of Directors

Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc.

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program

We have audited Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc.'s compliance
with the types of compliance requirements described in the 0MB Compliance Supplement that
could have a direct and material effect on each of Community Action Program Belknap-
Merrimack Counties. Inc.'s major federal programs for the year ended February 28, 2023.
Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties. Inc.'s major federal programs are
identified in the summary of auditors' results section of the accompanying schedule of findings
and questioned costs.

In our opinion, Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc. complied, in all
material respects, with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have
a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the year ended February
28, 2023.

Basis for Opinion on Each Major Federal Program

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits
contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United
States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200,
Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal
Awards (Uniform Guidance). Our responsibilities under those standards and the Uniform
Guidance are further described in the Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance
section of our report.

We are required to be independent of Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack
Counties. Inc. and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with relevant ethical
requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for each major
federal program. Our audit do.es not provide a legal determination of Community Action
Prograrh Belknap-Merrimack Counties. Inc.'s compliance with the compliance requirements
referred to above.
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Responsibilities of Management for Compliance

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the
design, implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the
requirements of laws, statutes, regulations, rules, and provisions of contracts or grant
agreements applicable to Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc.'s
federal programs.

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with
the compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and
express an opinion on Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc.'s
compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not
absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with generally accepted auditing standards, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform
Guidance will always detect material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting
material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for that resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above Is
corisidered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it
would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on compliarice about
Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc.'s compliance with the
requirements of each major federal program as a whole.

I  i

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Government
Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance, we:

•  Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the
audit.

•  Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance. whether due to fraud or error,
and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures
include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding Community Action Program
Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc.'s compliance with the compliance requirements
referred to above and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in
the circumstances.

• Obtain an understanding of Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties,
Inc.'s internal control over compliance relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report on internal
control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Community Action Program
Belknap-Merrimack Counties. Inc.'s internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no
such opinion is expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and
material weaknesses in internal control over compliance that we identified during the audit.
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Report on Internal Control Over Compliance

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a
control over compliance does not allow management or employees. In the normal course of
performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a
type of compliance requirement of a federal program on a t.imely basis. A material weakness in
internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal
control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material
noncompliance with a type .pf compliance requirement of a federal program will not be
prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal
control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control
over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe
than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit
attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in
the Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed
to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance. Given these
limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over
compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined ̂ above. However, material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance may exist that have
not been identified.

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of
our testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the
requirements of the Uniform Guidance, Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other
purpose.

Dover, New Hampshire
September 14. 2023
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COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM BELKNAP-MERRIMACK COUNTIES. INC.

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED FEBRUARY 28. 2023

SUMMARY OF AUDITORS' RESULTS

1. The auditors' report expresses ari unmodified opinion on whether the financial statements.
■' of Comnnunity Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc. were prepared in

accordance with generally accepted accounting phnciples.

2. No significant deficiencies relating to the audit of the financial statements are reported in
the Independent Auditors' Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on
Compliance and other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial' Statements Performed in
Accordance with Government Auditing Standards. No material weaknesses are reported.

3. No instances of noncompliance material to the financial statements of Community Action
Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc., which would be required to be reported in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards were disclosed during the audit.

4. No significant deficiencies in internal control over major federal award programs are
reported in the Independent Auditors' Report on Compliance forEach Major Program and
On Internal Control Over Compliance Required by the Uniform Guidance. No material
weaknesses are reported.

5. The auditors' report on compliance for the major federal award programs for Community
Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties. Inc. expresses an unmodified opinion on all
major programs.

6. There were no audit findings that are required to be reported in accordance with 2 CFR
section 200.516(a).

7. The programs tested as major programs include; U.S. Department of the Treasury,
Emergency Rental Assistance Program. ALN 21.023, Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal
Recovery Funds, ALN 21.027. U.S. Department of Agriculture. Women. Infants and
Children, ALN 10.557, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Head Start, ALN
93.600. New Hampshire Public Utilities Company. Electrical Assistance Program. NON-
Federal.

8. The threshold for distinguishing Type A and B programs was $1.822.344.

9. Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties. Inc. was determined to not be a
low-risk auditee.
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FINDINGS - FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AUDIT

None

FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS - MAJOR FEDERAL PROGRAMS AUDIT

None
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COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM
BELKNAP-MERRIMACKCOUNTIESJNC. *
EMPOWERING COMMUNITIES SINCE 1965

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Dennis T. Martino, President.
Board member since: 2/24/2005

Chris Pyles, Vice President
Board member since: 1/14/2021

Safiya Wazir, Treasurer
Board member since: 11/2/2016

A. Bruce Carh, Secretary/Clerk
Board member since: 3/12/2020

Heather Brown

Board member since: 1/15/2009

Ashley Reed
HS Policy Council Chairperson
Board member since: 5/12/2022

Tracy Vergason
Board member since: 5/12/2022

Sara A. Lewko

Human Resources Director Merrimack

County Commissioners
Board member since: 2/21/2001

David Siff, Esq.
Board member since: 10/2/2013

David Croft, Sheriff
Merrimack County
Board member since: 5/13/2021

Current fiscal year (3/1/22 - 2/28/23) board meetings - 3/10/22, 5/12/22, 9/8/22,11/10/22,1/12/23
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COMMUNITY ACTION PROGRAM
BELKNAP-MERRIMACKCOUNTIES, INC. ̂
EMPOWEPl>IG COMMUNITIES SINCE 1955 ̂

TRANSPORTATION SERVICES

SPY 2023 FTA Section 5339 Program Funding - Statewide Software Project

KEY PERSONNEL

Name Job Title Salary
Amount Paid

from this

Contract

Jeanne Agh Chief Executive Officer $145,916.10 $0.00

Jill Lesmehses Chief Fiscal Officer $108,297.00 $0.00

Terri Paige Transportation Director $72,497.62 $0.00



Ji l l Lesmerises

Profile

Experienced and self-motivated Accounting Professional bringing forth over 30 years of
valuable progressive non-profit experience. Looking for an opportunity to use my non-profit
experience to help guide an organization. Areas of experience range from cash management,
bank reconciliations, accounts receivable, fixed assets, accounts payable, payroll, audit

preparation, budget preparation, monitoring subrecipients, 4038 pension compliance and audit
preparation, employee benefits, and system implementations.

Employment Experience

10/21 - Present

Chief Fiscal Officer. Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties. Inc.

CAP8M is a not-for-profit with 25 million in revenue with 11 legal entities. The Agency has over 300

employees and holds 8 million in assets.

Oversee the daily activities of 6 fiscal staff, conduct budget meetings, prepare work papers for annual
audit for agency and 10 housing projects, manage the daily cash flow of the agency and 10 housing
projects, prepare paperwork for monitorings conducted by various funding sources, and review
accounts payable input, journal entries, accounts receivable input, and monthly billings.

10/17-12/21

Senior Accountant. Southern New Hampshire Services. Inc.

Southern New Hampshire Services is a not-for-profit with 49 million in revenue with 30 legal

entities. The Agency has over 400 employees and holds 84 million in assets.

Conduct monthly budget meetings, bil l funding sources monthly, prepare work papers for
annual audit, monitor subrecipients, prepare paperwork for monitoring conducted by various

funding sources, review accounts payable input and manage daily workflow, provide backup for
accounts payable and fuel assistance payable positions, prepare surveys for various
governmental agencies, prepare ACA forms, prepare paperwork for 403B annual audit and file



5500, member and secretary of the 4036 Committee, instrumental in getting PaperSave up and
running within the Fiscal Department, prepare work papers for 26 housing programs

11/02-10/17

Staff Accountant. Community Action Program Belknap-Merrirri'ack Counties. Inc.

At the time of my employment. Community Action Program Belknap-Merrlmack Counties was a not-for-
profit with 20 million in revenue. The Agency had over 479 employees and held over 7 million in assets.

Reconciled 36 bank accounts, billed funding sources monthly, prepared work papers for annual
audit, prepared paperwork for monitoring by various funding sources, prepared and entered
journal entries, reconciled general ledger accounts, reviewed daily accounts payable input,
entered cash receipts in A/R system, provided backup for both payrol l and accounts

payable/receivable positions, managed daily workflow, and trained new accounting staff
members

1/00-9/02

Account Supervisor (for 2 Companies!. Whole Life, Inc.

Whole Life, Inc. is a not-for-profit with 6 million in revenue. The Agency had over 140 employees and
held over 4 million in assets.

Prepared monthly and quarterly reports, yearly budgets, monthly invoices, work papers, and
cost reports, prepared and entered journal entries, reconciled general ledger accounts, and
billed Medicaid

9/98 -1/00

Account Receivable Clerk (for 4 Companiesl. CSN Financial, Inc.

Coded cash receipts, prepared monthly invoices, and prepared accounts receivable and
revenue work papers

5/93 - 9/98

Assistant Controller. Biosvstems. Inc.

Collected past due accounts receivable both foreign and domestic, provided switchboard relief,
handled petty cash funds, audited salesmen expenses, cut accounts payable checks, prepared
journal entries, performed payroll functions



3/88-5/93

Business Officer. The Caring Community of Connecticut. Inc.

The Caring Cofnmunlly of Connecticut is a not-for-profit with 18 million in revenue.

Answered phones, filed correspondence, handled petty cash funds, typed correspondence,
coded cash receipts and disbursements, reconciled bank accounts, screened job applicants,
prepared work papers, and participated in administrator oh-call program

Educational Background

1996-2000

Bachelor Degree in Accounting, Eastern Connecticut State University
Graduated cum laude

1992-1996

Associate Degree in Accounting, Three Rivers Community Technical College
Named to Dean's list, graduated with high honors

1981-1985

Merrimack Valley High School

Member of National Honor Society, named to Honor Roll for 3 years

Volunteer Work

1/17 - Present

Director on The Loudon Communications Council

Council Is responsible for the distribution of a monthly newspaper to the residents of Loudon
and to maintain the Town of Loudon NH website. Also served as Treasurer of the Counci l for 2

years.



Jeanne Agri

PROFESSIONAL PROFILE

Versatile and experienced leader with highly developed eonimunicaiion skills: written, verbal and presentational. Adept
in'coaching and mentoring employees and colleagues as evidenced by my selection by the National Oftlce ofHead Start to
serve as a mentor for new Head Siait Directors. Committed to continuous impnwement ofactivities to ensure they meet

outcomes approved by the board through strategic planning, creating goal-oriented sy.sietns and c(nifonnonce with all
local, state and federal guidance.

WORK EXPERIENCE

Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Concord, NH
Chief Executive Officer 20i8-present

Assures the organization has long-range strategy which makes consistent and timely progress towards tneeting
the Agencies overall mission
Responsible for the general supervision of all grant awards, ensuring that all statutory, regulatory, and /or
program and financial requirements are met, that generally accepted accounting principles are applied, and
that ail program and financial policies and procedures are adhered to.
Provide leadership in developing programs, organizational structures and financial systems that carry out the
instructions and policies authorized by the Board
Establish sound working relationships and cooperative arrangements with community groups, organizations
and all funding sources impoilant to the development of the agency and programs.
See that the Board Director is kept fully informed and up to date on the condition of the organization and all
important Federal, State or local requirements impacting on the Agency ajid/or its programs.

Southern New Hampshire Services, Manchester, NH
Education and Nutrition Operations Director 2016 - 2018

•  Coordinate, manage and monitor workings of Child Development, VVoinen Infant and Children, and
Literacy Programs, as vvell as development of an agency wide Two-Generational Approach to services
Formulate, improve and implement departmental and organizational policies and procedures to
maximize output. Monitor adherence to rules, regulations, and procedures
Assist in the recruitment and placement of required staff; establishment of organizational structure;
delegation of tasks and accountabilities

Supervise staff, including establishment of work schedules and monitoring and evaluating performance in
partnership with Executive Director
Assist in development of strategic plans for operational activity; implement and manage operational
plans

Director of Child Development Progratns 2001 -2016
Hire, coach and evaluate the performance of Program Managers, Specialists, Coordinators, Center
Directors, Teachers and Head Start support staff

Provide coaching, and learning opportunities for all employees focused on promoting, supporting and
improving early development of children from the prenatal stcige to five years of age using research -
based practices

Plan and implement strategic interventions with Program Managers, Specialists, Coordinators and
Center Directors for sites needing administrative support and direction
Plan, coordinate and facilitate regular leadership meetings for evaluating and strengthening systems to
maintain the highest quality of services in compliance with Head Start Performance Standards
Develop internal structures, systems, and policies supporting major content areas of Head Start program
including education, health, mental health, social services, parent involvement, nutrition, disabilities , and
transportation



•  Collaboraie-with managers and internal fiscal depjirtmenl in the monitoring and control of component
budgets; identification and interpretation of Head Start and community needs; conformance to the
Performance Standards and other regulatory requirements
Work in partnership with internal departments to support project goals and meet customerexpectations
Establish and maintain relationships and collaborations with public school districts, systems of higher
education, and other community agencies and partners

•  Ensure adequate systems in place to maintain the highest quality of services to children and families in
compliance with Head Start Performance Standards
Ensure consistency in service delivery across the program with attention to inclusive practices and
integration of component areas; encourage continuous improvement of systems.

Quality Assurance Direcior/Co-Director for Child Development Programs 1999-2001
Established and managed a robust monitoring, analysis and evaluation system with well-defined results,
milestones, and targets inclusive of Continuous Quality Improvement practices

•  Monitored for quality and compliance at Grantee and Delegate level
•  Worked closely with program Director to review, track and assess monitoring compliance throughout

program operations
•  Developed and implements a written quality assurance and performance evaluation plan in conjunction with

Governing Board, Policy Council
•  Interpreted and evaluated a variety of information to present it .in meaningful oral or written fomi for

varied audiences and provide reliable analysis leading to sound decision-making

Area Manager/Education Manager 1997-1999
Supervision of various Child Care sites including direct supervision of Center Directors/Site Managers
Coordinate personal and professional development and training plans for staff and ensure teaching staff
progress towards educational requirements as supported by the Performance Standards

•  Documented and administered both positive and negative feedback and utilize Performance
Improvement Plans when warranted.

Child Care Center Director/Site Manager 1995-1997
Supervised, mentored, coach and administered work plans and directives to staff

•  Communicated areas of performance improvement to staff and promote training that reflected individual
needs of staff members and the team as a whole

Ensure program compliance with codes of state and local licensing agencies and grant requirements

New Hampshire Technical College, Nashua, NH
Instructor 1995-1997

Taught Child Growth & Development and assisted in curriculum development for Early Childhood
Education Program

Planned and organized instruction to maximize documented student learning
•  Employed appropriate teaching and learning strategies to communicate subject matter to students

Modified, where applicable, instructional methods and strategies to meet diverse student needs

EDUCATtON

Southern New Hampshire University, Manchester, NH
Master's in Business Administration June2017

Notre Dame College, Manchester, NH
Bachelors of Arts in Elementary Education ' ̂81



THERESA C. PAIGE, TRANSIT DIRECTOR

Professional Experience

Transportation Director July 2019 - Current
Community Action Program Belknap & Merrimack Counties,. Inc.
As the Transportation Director for Community Action Program Belknap &
Merrimack Counties, Inc. (CAPBMCI) I am responsible for all aspects of
operations for Concord Area Transit, (CAT), a fixed route rural public
transportation service which is funded with a variety of federal, state,
county, and municipal funding. This funding includes: FTA 5311, and 5310
RCC grant funding through NHDOT; BEAS Title III funding; Medicaid
reimbursed rides and a variety of other grant funding. All of these funding
sources have extensive operating and reporting requirements.

In addition I am responsible for the ongoing tasks of: budgeting; employee
hiring, training and retention; marketing and community outreach; vehicle
maintenance; securing advertisers for signs on the buses; creating and
updating policies and procedures; route scheduling design; determining
eligibility for the ADA Paratransit service attached to CAT and processing
invoices for both accounts payable and accounts receivable.

I am also responsible for the operations of the Concord Senior Transit
service which is a demand response service in Concord, Penacook and
Suncook for seniors aged 60 and older and the Rural Transportation Services
(RTS) vehicles and drivers which provide demand response service to senior
aged 60 and older throughout Belmont and Merrimack counties. CAPBMCI
also runs a Volunteer Driver Program that covers all of Belknap and
Merrimack counties. I also supervise the activities of the 5310 RCC funded
Mobility Manager who provides services throughout the Mid-State RCC
region.

Transit Director Feb 2017 - July 2019
Southwestern Community Services, Inc.
As the Transit Director for Sullivan County Transportation (SCT) I was
responsible for all aspects of operations for a rural public transportation
service which is funded with a variety of federal, state, county, and
municipal funding. This funding included: FTA 5311, and 5310 RCC grant
funding through NHDOT; BEAS Title III funding; Medicaid reimbursed rides
and a variety of other grant funding. All of these funding sources have
extensive operating and reporting requirements.



In addition I was responsible for the ongoing tasks of: budgeting; employee
hiring, training and retention; marketing and community outreach; vehicle
maintenance; securing advertisers for signs on the buses; creating and
updating policies and procedures; route scheduling design; maintaining a
FTA compliant drug & alcohol testing program and processing invoices for
both accounts payable and accounts receivable. The transportation service is
based in Claremont NH, with three flex route systems that run in Claremont,
Charlestown and Newport. There is also a Demand Response "Dial-A-Ride"
service that runs in the larger Claremont area. SCT also runs a Volunteer
Driver Program that covers all of Sullivan County.

Independent Contractor July 2013 - Current
RLS & Associates, Inc.

I Provide training on a variety of transit-relating topics, including Passenger
Assistance and Refresher, Emergency Procedures, and Defensive Driving.

Associate and RTAP Liaison Nov 2013 - Feb 2017

RLS & Associates, Inc.

I was the in-state Program Liaison and lead trainer for the New Hampshire
and Massachusetts RTAP Programs. As lead trainer I instructed in a variety
of DOT required training areas including: Passenger Assistance and
Refresher; Emergency Procedures; Defensive Driving; Pre-Trip Inspections;
Drug & Alcohol Reasonable Suspicion Referral and several customer service
based topics. I scheduled all trainings and coordinated with RLS contracted
trainers to ensure that required trainings were available at regional training
sites throughout New Hampshire and Massachusetts. In addition I was
responsible for state DOT technical assistance compliance reviews for FTA
Drug and Alcohol programs in NC, WI, VA, and NH and several 5311 DOT
compliance reviews in Ni l.

I served as interim transportation director for Southwestern Community
Services, Inc. in 2016 when they agreed to take on the responsibility for the
only public transportation service in Sullivan County. This service had been
abruptly shut down when another social service provider in the region
ceased operations. In this transitional position I provided all of the
traditional management activities of a transit manager as well as the
additional responsibilities of repairing community relationships and
improving the service image.

Regional Transportation Coordinator Sep 2013 - Nov 2013
Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc.
•  Responsible for assisting the Mid-State Regional Coordinating Council

with collaborative initiatives that enhance transportation options in the
Mid-State region.



•  Performed outreach activities to engage stakeholders and educate the
public.

•  Served as the liaison to state and local transit groups.

•  Facilitated transportation coordination among public, private, and
volunteer transit providers and stakeholders to enhance options for
consumers.

•  Marketed transportation services available to the Mid-State Region
residents.

•  Organized and completed local and regional needs assessments to
identify unmet transportation needs.

•  Reviewed barriers to transportation in the Mid-State Region and made
recommendations to resolve issues.

•  Assisted with organizing and carrying out the activities of the Mid-
State RCC sub-committees. Assisted with the facilitation of meetings
as assigned.

Mobility Manager Sept 2010 - Sep 2013
Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc.
•  Promoted, enhanced and facilitated access to transportation services,

including integration and coordination of services for individuals with
disabilities, older adults, individuals with low English proficiency, low
income individuals and the general public.

•  Provided coordinated services to human service organizations,
including individualized travel training and trip planning activities for
customers.

•  Advocated and promoted the use of the WTS, CAT, and RTS transit
systems with the general public, the business community, and human
service organizations.

•  Researched, secured, and managed grant funding and donations to
support transportation services.

•  Maintained close working relationships with all passenger transit
providers in the region to improve ride referrals and collaboration of
existing resources.

• Worked to improve access to jobs and employment support services
by identifying and reducing barriers preventing use of transportation.

•  Assisted in the development of transportation resources information
including, but not limited to, bus schedules, resource manuals,
brochures, Web pages, and signage improvements.

•  Presented transportation resource information at community events
and conferences.

•  Conducted outreach to community organizations to identify unmet
needs.



•  Provided monthly training to transportation staff on topics including
customer service, disability awareness and dealing with difficult
passengers.

Independent Living Services Director Jan 2002 - Aug 2010 -
Granite State Independent Living
•  Responsible for the supervision and day to day activities of the.

Independent Living Services case management program. These
services Included peer support and counseling, skills training, and
advocacy.

•  Responsible for the overall management of the Home
Access/Modifications, Adaptive Equipment program, funded by grants
and individual donations.

•  Developed and managed a travel training initiative to assist individuals
with disabilities gain better access to public transportation.

•  Provided disability awareness, people first language, and customer
service trainings to staff, community groups and transit providers.

•  Secured funding for new and on-going programs, including grant
writing and reporting.

•  Supervised, coached, and evaluated a service delivery staff comprised
of diverse personalities, (including staff located off-site), assuring the
quality and consistency of services which were provided.

•  Promoted the use of GSIL services through outreach, to the general
public, other service providers and professionals. Supervised the
development of brochures, presentation materials and other tools to
assist with outreach efforts.

•  Developed new services in response to needs evidenced in the market
place. Assessed the needs of the community, and conducted an annual
evaluation of consumer satisfaction with services.

•  Responsible for the preparation of quarterly and annual reports and
budgets.

Financial Case Manager
MIMS/Community and Vocational Outreach Worker 1996 -2001
White Mountain Mental Health and DO Services

•  Assessed financial needs of individuals and assisted them in

enhancing, securing, and maintaining State and Federal benefits.
•  Served as a resource for other program staff handling benefits for

consumers.

•  Maintained personally supportive relationships with individuals and
their families, vyithout encouraging unnecessary dependence.

•  Interfaced effectively with community supports on behalf of the client.



•  Coordinated and Implemented treatment plans for mental health
consumers and their families.

•  Resolved routine client needs and problems in the community
independently.

EDUCATION

•  Certified Community Transit Manager (CCTM) through CCTA
•  Certified in Advanced Mobility Device Securement through the National

Transit Institute

•  Certified in Comprehensive ADA Paratransit Eligibility through the
National Transit Institute

•  Certified in Advanced Practices in Paratransit Service through Easter
Seals Project Action

•  Certified as Lead Trainer through Q'Staint
•  Certified as FTA Drug & Alcohol Reasonable Suspicion Referral

Supervisor
•  Certified Master Gardener through the UNH Cooperative Extension and

active presenter for the Master Gardener Speakers Bureau
•  Course work in Human Services Springfield College, Manchester, NH

(2002-04) and New Hampshire Community Technical College (1997-
2001)


